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DRILLING EQUIPMENT SYSTEMS (“DES”) AND LAND/ONSHORE DRILLING RIGS

SBI Offshore designs and builds high standard, cost-efficient drilling equipment or the entire DES for 
various clients including onshore or land drilling rigs. Our first Engineering, Procurement, Construction 
and Commissioning DES project was successfully delivered in July 2014 for a leading Malaysian 
drilling contractor client.

MOBILE OFFSHORE DRILLING UNITS

Partnering reputable shipyards, SBI O&M Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SBI Offshore, 
provides end-to-end solutions for various types of mobile offshore drilling units. This includes design 
and engineering, procurement, construction supervision and commissioning. The Group secured a 
design and engineering contract for a jack-up drilling rig for a Middle Eastern and Chinese consortium 
during the year.

CONTRACT MANUFACTURING AND FABRICATION

Through its strategically located facility in China, Jiangyin SBI Offshore Equipment Co., Ltd (“JSBI”) 
provides contract manufacturing and fabrication solutions for drilling equipment. JSBI works closely 
with accreditation societies to deliver drilling equipment which meets the industry standards and 
operating environment requirements for clients.

MARKETING, DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICING

RBV Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd, a joint venture between RBV Energy (UK) and SBI Offshore, 
distributes and services high-pressure pipes, fittings, valves and manifolds.

SBI Offshore’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Neptune Life-Saving Pte Ltd, distributes and services 
lifeboats, fast rescue boats and launching systems as well as provides after-sales services such as 
rental of lifeboats, extension programmes and servicing the release and retrieval systems.

SBI Offshore Limited (“SBI Offshore” and together with its subsidiaries the “Group”) was 
established in 1994 as a marketing and distribution company for offshore & marine (“O&M”) products. 
Since its listing on the Catalist of the Singapore Exchange in November 2009, the Group has been 
progressively transforming itself into an integrated drilling equipment and engineering solutions 
provider for the oil and gas industry.

The Group’s customer base includes drilling contractors and shipyards across Asia, the Middle East 
and America.

The Group has four main business areas.

COMPANY PROFILE
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“Board”), I am pleased 
to present the Annual Report for SBI Offshore Limited (“SBI 
Offshore” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 (“FY2014”).

The year under review has been challenging and was 
probably one of the significant strategic shifts in the history 
of SBI Offshore. First, we redirected our efforts on equipment 
distribution to have a sharper focus on offshore oil and 
gas drilling equipment and systems. Second, we executed 
a specific thrust to secure offshore and marine (“O&M”) 
business opportunities in the Middle East and China which 
has potential to yield results.

These strategies – with the underlying intention to enhance 
shareholder value by pursuing larger-scale projects with 
higher value – were contemplated before the recent decline in 
global crude oil prices which has slowed down orders for new 
drilling rigs and drilling equipment. The current climate deters 
significant increases in capital expenditure by asset owners in 
the oil and gas industry which will have some negative impact 
on our business. We will closely monitor the situation even as 
we explore opportunities for business while keeping a close 
eye on internal cost efficiencies.

FY2014 FINANCIAL REVIEW
First, allow me to outline our financial performance in the 
year under review. As shareholders are aware, we completed 
a significant Engineering, Procurement, Construction and 
Commissioning (“EPCC”) project for a Southeast Asian 
customer which had contributed significantly to the revenue 
of US$41.8 million in the financial year ended 31 December 
2013 (“FY2013”). Following the completion of this project, our 
revenue in FY2014 declined to US$14.1 million.

Currently, we have two main sources of revenue. The first is 
Projects revenue which declined to US$6.4 million (FY2013: 
US$30.8 million) that included partial recognition of the 
US$24 million rig Design and Engineering (“D&E”) services 
contract secured with a Middle East-Chinese Consortium 
(“Consortium”), as announced on 19 August 2014.

Revenue for our second segment, Marketing and Distribution, 
declined to US$7.8 million (FY2013: US$11 million). The 
decline in the Marketing portion reflected the review we 
undertook in the year under review regarding our Sales 
Representative Agreement with Aker MH as well as slower 
distribution revenue which declined due to lower sales of 
fittings and pipes.

Gross profit increased to US$5.8 million in FY2014 compared 
to US$5.5 million in FY2013 while gross profit margin grew to 
41.3% from 13.1% over the comparative periods. The higher 
margin reflects, among others, the contribution from the D&E 
projects which have typically higher margins.

Despite the challenging operating environment, the Group 
recorded a net profit of US$610,000 in FY2014 which 
compares with US$977,000 in FY2013.

Diluted earnings per share was 0.30 US cent in FY2014 
compared to 0.58 US cent in FY2013. Net asset value per 
share increased to 12.06 US cents as at 31 December 2014 
from 9.34 US cents as at 31 December 2013.

Cash and cash equivalents (net of fixed deposits pledged) 
increased to US$17.3 million as at 31 December 2014 from 
US$4.9 million as at 31 December 2013, lifted by the private 
share placement in October 2014.

REPOSITIONING FOR GROWTH – TWO CORE 
STRATEGIES
Allow me to elaborate on each of our two core growth 
strategies.

The first relates to our activities in oil and gas drilling 
equipment and systems (“DES”). We have been gradually 
building up our own engineering capabilities and developed 
a strong network in various shipyards in the region. Following 
these efforts, the Group entered into a Memorandum of Intent 
in December 2014 for its appointment as lead procurement 
contractor for a CS70 semi-submersible rig – designed 
by Moss Maritime of Norway – to be built in China for 
the China Sunrise Group Co. Ltd. (“CSG”). The Group 
has secured technical agreements with all three Chinese 
yards shortlisted by CSG. Upon appointment and depending 
on market conditions, the successful yard is expected to 
enter into an engineering, procurement and commissioning 
(“EPC”) agreement with the Company with respect to a DES 
package by 1H2015. The Group will continue to pursue 
similar opportunities in China leveraging on the large market 
there which has opportunities for large-scale DES or EPC 
projects.

CHAN LAI THONG
Executive Chairman
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The second core strategic thrust is to carve out 
opportunities in the Middle East or other regions where 
there are opportunities for large-scale oil and gas projects. 
Notwithstanding the decline in crude oil prices, there remain 
several oil-producing regions which offer such opportunities. 
The Company has developed a strong network of contacts 
in some of these regions and has been actively tapping these 
contacts and exploring oil and gas opportunities.

These efforts have yielded some results and we have clinched 
the US$24 million contract to provide D&E services for a jack-
up drilling rig that can operate in water depths of up to 110 
meters. The contract with a Consortium marked our entrance 
into the large-scale mainstream oil and gas market.

We subsequently commenced negotiations with the 
Consortium for the building of up to five units of the jack-
up rig, catapulting our efforts to build up a business pillar 
of larger-scale projects. Depending on the recovery of the 
global oil markets, the Group will work towards securing the 
contract to build the first rig in a regional shipyard.

We will continue to leverage on our network and expertise to 
position our Group well to capitalize on such opportunities.

CORPORATE MATTERS
The Group’s growth strategy as outlined above has no 
doubt attracted the attention of potential investors as well as 
strategic partners. During the year under review, the Group 
completed a private placement of 62 million new shares 
to four investors, including Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir (“Mr 
Mirzan”), which raised S$16.1 million (US$12.8 million). The 
net proceeds are being used for working capital and funding 
for business expansion, as well as mergers and acquisitions.

In addition, the Board was further strengthened with 
the appointment of two Directors. In October 2014, we 
announced the appointment of Mr Mirzan as a Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director following the private 
placement. Mr Mirzan brings with him vast corporate and 
business experience in the oil & gas sector and we are 
thrilled to have him as part of the team as we undergo a 
transformational phase. In February 2015, subsequent to 
the year-end, Mr Basil Chan was appointed as Independent 
Non-Executive Director. Mr Basil Chan, who sits on the Board 
of five other SGX-listed companies, brings with him a wealth 
of experience in corporate and financial advisory and is a 
valuable addition to our team.

We also welcome Ms Amy Soh Wai Ling, who has over 20 
years’ professional experience with corporate accounting 
and finance, as our new Chief Financial Officer in September 
2014. We are delighted to have Ms Amy Soh on board and 
are confident that she will be an asset to the Group.

We wish to express our sincere appreciation to Mr Giang 
Sovann and Mr Jen Shek Voon, who had resigned as 
Executive Director and Lead Independent Director of the 
Company, respectively. We thank them for their contributions 
and wish them well for future endeavours.

NAVIGATING NEW FRONTIERS
FY2014 had been an eventful year, marked with milestones 
that have helped us sharpen our strategy as we undergo a 
transformational phase. Although set against a challenging 
operating environment, we continue to enhance our business 
focus as we grow our core business pillars.

Amidst exciting developments, we look forward to an even 
better year in 2015 as we leverage on our strengths to 
continue enhancing shareholder value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude 
to our shareholders, for your consistent and loyal support. To 
all our customers, bankers, professional advisers, business 
partners, management, and staff, I extend my utmost 
appreciation for your continued support as we enter a new 
phase of growth.

CHAN LAI THONG
Executive Chairman
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JULY
16 JULY 2014
Completed the second 
Engineering, Procurement, 
Construction and 
Commissioning project 
worth US$30 million for  
a Malaysia client

AUGUST
27 AUGUST 2014
Commenced negotiations 
with Middle East-Chinese 
Consortium to build up to 
five jack-up drilling rigs, 
accelerating the Group’s 
strategy to scale up the 
value chain

OCTOBER
29 OCTOBER 2014
Strengthened the 
Board through the 
appointment of Mr 
Mirzan Bin Mahathir 
as Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director 
subsequent to the 
private placement

AUGUST
19 AUGUST 2014
Secured a US$24 million 
Design & Engineering 
contract for a jack-up 
drilling rig

DECEMBER
29 DECEMBER 2014
Appointment as lead 
procurement contractor for 
semi-submersible rig to be 
built in China

FEBRUARY
2 FEBRUARY 2015
Strengthened the Board 
through the appointment 
of Mr Basil Chan 
as Independent 
Non-Executive Director

SEPTEMBER
11 SEPTEMBER 2014
Strengthened key management 
with appointment of Ms Amy Soh 
Wai Ling as Chief Financial Officer

SEPTEMBER
23 SEPTEMBER 2014
Proposed private share 
placement of 62 million 
new ordinary shares to four 
investors, underscoring investor 
confidence in the Group

OCTOBER
31 OCTOBER 2014
Completion of private 
share placement and 
raised S$16.1 million for 
operations and business
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REVENUE (US$’000)

2012

9,433

2013

41,792

14,149

2014

DILUTED EPS (US CENTS)

2012

0.54

2013

0.58

0.30

2014

NET EARNINGS (US$’000)

2012

655

2013

987

610

2014

NAV PER SHARE (US CENTS)

2012

8.31

2013

9.34

12.06

2014

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FY2012 FY2013 FY2014

Revenue (US$’000) 9,433 41,792 14,149

Gross Profit (US$’000) 2,607 5,478 5,840

Gross Profit Margin (%) 27.6 13.1 41.3

Net Earnings (US$’000) 655 987 610

Earnings per share on 
diluted basis (US cents)

0.54 0.58 0.30

FINANCIAL POSITION

FY2012 FY2013 FY2014

Total Assets (US$’000) 30,158 27,478 39,623

Total Liabilities (US$’000) 20,051 10,891 9,505

Net Assets (US$’000) 10,107 16,587 30,118

Cash & Cash Equivalents 
(US$’000)

7,955 7,586 18,000

Net Asset Value per share 
(US cents)

8.31 9.34 12.06

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVENUE AND PROFIT
The Group recorded revenue of US$14.1 million in FY2014 
compared to US$41.8 million in FY2013. The higher revenue 
in FY2013 was due to the completion of a significant EPCC 
project for a Southeast Asian customer that had been largely 
recognised that year.

Revenue from the Projects segment, which included partial 
recognition from the US$24 million rig D&E services contract 
secured with a Middle East-Chinese Consortium, stood at 
US$6.4 million in FY2014 from US$30.8 million in FY2013.

Revenue from the Marketing and Distribution segment declined 
to US$7.8 million in FY2014 from US$11 million the year 
before. This is in line with the decision to discontinue the sales 
representative agreement with Aker MH and lower sales from 
distribution of fittings and pipes, offset by the commission 
income and final settlement agreement with Aker MH.

The Group’s gross profit increased to US$5.8 million in FY2014 
from US$5.5 million in FY2013. Gross profit margin grew to 
41.3% from 13.1% over the comparative periods, attributable 
to contribution from the D&E projects, which have typically 
higher margins.

Other income decreased from US$64,000 in FY2013 to 
US$27,000 in FY2014 was mainly due to lower grants from 
local government in FY2014 as compared to FY2013.

Interest income increased to US$0.1 million in FY2014 from 
US$13,000 in FY2013, mainly due to higher interest income 
from a loan to a joint venture.

As a result of the above, the Group reported a net profit of 
US$0.6 million for FY2014 compared to US$1 million for 
FY2013.

EXPENSES
Administrative and other expenses for FY2014 increased to 
US$5.5 million from US$4.9 million for FY2013, mainly due 
to foreign currency exchange loss. Lower operating expenses 
were mainly due to lower office rental as a result of relocation 
of the corporate office. Finance costs for FY2014 decreased 
to US$70,000 from US$142,000 in FY2013 due to lower 
borrowing.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Non-current assets stood at $10.5 million as at 31 December 
2014, unchanged from a year before, mainly due to an increase 
in share of a joint venture and an associate business, offset 
by disposal of intangible assets, plant and equipment from an 
indirect subsidiary.

Current assets increased 72% by US$12.2 million to US$29.1 
million as at 31 December 2014 from US$16.9 million as at 
31 December 2013. The increase was attributable to higher 
cash and cash equivalents of US$10.4 million, trade and other 

receivables of US$2.7 million, offset by lower inventories of 
US$0.9 million – in line with lower sales. Trade receivables 
increased by US$2.9 million to US$10.6 million as at 31 
December 2014 from US$7.7 million as at 31 December 2013, 
mainly due to progressive billing towards the end of FY2014 to 
a contract customer from the D&E project. Other receivables 
decreased by US$0.2 million to US$0.5 million as at 31 
December 2014 from US$0.7 million as at 31 December 2013.

Current liabilities decreased by US$1.4 million to US$9.5 
million as at 31 December 2014 from US$10.9 million 
as at 31 December 2013, mainly due to lower trade and 
other payables as well as lower bank borrowings. Trade 
payables increased by US$3.3 million to US$6.4 million as at 
31 December 2014 from US$3.1 million as at 31 December 
2013, mainly due to reclassification of the project costs 
from other payables for an EPCC project and project costs 
incurred for the D&E project. Other payables decreased by 
US$3.9 million to US$1.7 million as at 31 December 2014 
from US$5.6 million as at 31 December 2013, mainly due 
to deduction in accrued project costs and lower advance 
payment from customers which was in line with lower sales. 
Borrowings decreased by US$1 million due to net repayment 
of bank loans.

The Group’s working capital position increased to US$19.6 
million as at 31 December 2014, compared to US$6.1 million 
as at 31 December 2013. Share capital increased by US$13.7 
million to US$25.3 million from US$11.6 million over the 
comparative periods due to the issuance of performance 
shares and a private share placement – where the Company 
issued 62 million new ordinary shares at S$0.2605 per share in 
October 2014; raising approximately S$16.1 million (US$12.8 
million).

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The Group’s net cash used in operating activities amounted 
to US$871,000 in FY2014 compared to US$1.3 million in 
FY2013, mainly due to higher trade and other receivables and 
lower trade and other payables offset by lower inventories.

Net cash used in investing activities in FY2014 amounted to 
US$56,000 compared to US$443,000 in FY2013, mainly due 
to lower purchase for intangible assets as well as plant and 
equipment offset by the proceeds from the disposal of plant 
and equipment.

Net cash from financing activities in FY2014 amounted to 
US$13.4 million compared to US$5.1 million for FY2013, 
mainly attributable to the proceeds from the share placements 
as announced in September 2014 amounting to US$12.8 
million.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents (net of fixed deposits 
pledged) increased to US$17.3 million as at 31 December 
2014 compared to US$4.9 million as at 31 December 2013.
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MR CHAN LAI THONG 
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 

Mr Chan Lai Thong was appointed as Independent Director of the Company on 28 September 
2009, and was subsequently re-designated as Executive Chairman on 17 August 2012.

Mr Chan started his career at Keppel FELS in 1980 and was involved in business development in 
various parts of the world, including Southeast Asia, Middle East, Australia, Eastern Europe, Central 
Asia and China. As Group General Manager for Keppel, he was responsible for strategizing and 
developing the Eastern Europe and Central Asian markets. He was instrumental in starting Keppel’s 
business in the Middle East, Bulgaria, Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan. He joined the Al Bawardi Group 
in United Arab Emirates in 1985 as its vice-president and was responsible for streamlining its 
operations and spearheading its business development efforts. In 2004, Mr Chan ventured into 
China and was involved in property development in Sichuan, Chongqing and Hunan. Mr Chan is 
currently also a director of Saudi MTD Capital Ltd, Chongqing Panxin Industry Co. Ltd, and Sichuan 
Weatherock China Co. Ltd.

Mr Chan graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Science (Honours) 
degree in 1980 and has post-graduate diplomas in Administrative Management and Marketing 
Management.

MR TAN WOO THIAN 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr Tan Woo Thian is the founder of the Company and has been appointed as Executive Director 
since July 1997. He was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 17 August 2012 and was 
instrumental in securing agency agreements from various offshore engineering-related multinational 
companies such as Wilhelmsen Callenberg for HVAC Systems, Jiangyin Neptune Marine Appliance 
Co. Ltd for lifeboats and davits, and Aker MH AS for drilling equipment.

From 1973 to 1996, Mr Tan held various positions within the Keppel Group and was involved 
in various aspects of the rig-building, shipbuilding and ship-repairing operations. Between 2004 
and 2006, he was the Managing Director of Aker MH Singapore Pte Ltd and was subsequently 
appointed the Business Manager of Aker MH AS in charge of developing the China market.

MR MIRZAN BIN MAHATHIR
NON-INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir was appointed to the Board as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
on 29 October 2014.

Presently, he is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Crescent Capital Sdn Bhd, and also 
holds directorships with various private and public companies including Petron Corporation, listed 
on the Philippine Stock Exchange.

Mr Mirzan has over 20 years of experience in the investment and financial services industry, helping 
to take Konsortium Logistik Berhad public on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange in 1996.

Mr Mirzan graduated from Brighton Polytechnic, United Kingdom with a Bachelor in Computer 
Science and has a Masters in Business Administration from the Wharton School, University of 
Pennsylvania, USA. 
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MR BASIL CHAN
LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Mr Basil Chan was appointed to the Board on 2 February 2015 and he is the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee with effect from 27 March 2015.

Mr Basil Chan holds a Bachelor of Science (Economics) Honours degree majoring in Business 
Administration from the University of Wales Institute of Science & Technology, United Kingdom and 
is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) as well as 
a Member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (“ISCA”).

Mr Basil Chan was formerly a Council member and Director of the Singapore Institute of Directors 
where he served 12 years, chairing its Professional Development sub-committee for many years 
and serving as Treasurer for a term of three years. He is a Chartered Accountant by training, having 
qualified in the United Kingdom with ICAEW. He was also a member of the Corporate Governance 
Committee in 2001 which published the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance. Mr Basil Chan 
further serves as an Independent Director of five other SGX-listed companies. In addition, he 
previously sat on the Accounting Standards Committee and on the Audit and Assurance Standards 
Committee of ISCA. He currently sits on the Corporate Governance Committee of ISCA. He is also 
the Founder and Managing Director of MBE Corporate Advisory Pte Ltd which provides corporate 
and financial advisory to both listed and private companies.

MR MAHTANI BHAGWANDAS 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Mr Mahtani Bhagwandas was appointed to the Board as an Independent Director on 14 September 
2012, and is the Chairman of the Remuneration and Board Risk Committees.

He is a lawyer by profession and commenced practice as an advocate and solicitor of the Supreme 
Court of Singapore since 1993. Currently, he is a Senior Partner with LegalStandard LLP, a law 
firm in Singapore that specializes in commercial practice including commercial litigation work, and 
an Independent Director of SGX-listed GKE Corporation Ltd and Alliance Mineral Assets Limited. 
Formerly an Independent Director of Next-Generation Satellite Communications Ltd, Singapore, 
Mr Bhagwandas also holds several directorships in privately-held companies including GRP Ltd.

Mr Bhagwandas graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Law 
(Honours) degree in 1992. 

MR AHMAD SUBRI BIN ABDULLAH 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah was appointed to the Board as an Independent Director on 10 
January 2013, and is the Chairman of the Nominating Committee. 

He is presently the Chairman of Crave Capital Sdn. Bhd. and RCL International Sdn. Bhd., 
and Managing Director of Emerio (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., an NTT Group Company. He is also 
an Independent Director of ECS ICT Bhd., a company listed on the main board of the Bursa 
Saham Malaysia. Mr Subri has over 30 years of experience in the insurance and financial services 
industry, with more than 18 years as Chief Executive Officer of various companies including 
Trust International Insurance, MCIS Insurance, Mayban Life Assurance and Malaysia National 
Insurance Bhd. 

Mr Subri qualified as a Fellow of the Chartered Insurance Institute (United Kingdom) and is a 
Fellow of the Malaysian Insurance Institute. 
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MR DAVID GEORGE AIMERS ANDISON CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Mr David George Aimers Andison was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
on 6 February 2014.

Mr Andison has over 20 years of experience in offshore drilling and FPSO operations. During 
his career, he was extensively involved in drilling operations, new-building projects, design 
& engineering services and project management. Prior to joining SBI Offshore on 6 February 
2014 as Chief Operating Officer, Mr Andison had worked for Seadrill Tender Rigs Pte Ltd and 
Smedvig Tender Rigs Pte Ltd, and was the Technical Director of Tecnomar Pilling Solutions 
Pte Ltd providing offshore and marine consultancy to many companies including Atwood 
Oceanic, Inc., Transocean Ltd and Ezion Holdings Ltd.

Mr Andison holds a Diploma in Offshore Stability and Damage Control from Aberdeen 
Technical College in the United Kingdom. 

MS AMY SOH WAI LING CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms Amy Soh Wai Ling was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 15 
September 2014. She oversees the Group’s financial affairs, including corporate finance, 
merger and acquisition activities, capital management, treasury and investor relations.

Ms Amy Soh has over 20 years of professional experience with corporate accounting and 
finance. During her career, she has been involved with various tax and business strategies. 
Prior to joining the Company, Ms Amy Soh was a Finance Director with HSL Constructor 
Group in Asia Pacific, and was the Finance Manager with AEI Corporation Ltd.

Ms Amy Soh is a Fellow Member of CPA Australia and a Chartered Accountant certified by the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. She holds a Master of Accounting from Curtin 
University of Technology, Australia as well as a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from 
the University of Leicester, United Kingdom.
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SBI GROUP

Singapore
Investment holding

Marketing and distribution of drilling  
& related equipment

Integrated engineering  
& equipment solutions

SUBSIDIARY

JIANGYIN SBI OFFSHORE 
EQUIPMENT CO LTD

(100%)

People’s Republic of China
Fabrication of drilling & related 

equipment

JOINT VENTURE

RBV ENERGY
(SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

(50%)

Singapore
Marketing & distribution  

of high-pressure pipes, fittings,  
valves & manifolds

SUBSIDIARY

SBI O&M PTE LTD
(100%)

Singapore
Design, engineering & construction 

of O&M vessels

SUBSIDIARY

NEPTUNE  
LIFE-SAVING PTE LTD

(Formerly known as Sea Reef Offshore Pte Ltd)

(100%)

Singapore
Marketing, distribution and servicing  

of lifeboats, rescue boats and  
launching systems

SUBSIDIARY

AXON RIG CONCEPT &
DESIGN ASIA PTE LTD

(100%)

Singapore
Design, engineering & 
fabrication of DES &

related projects

ASSOCIATE

JIANGYIN NEPTUNE MARINE 
APPLIANCE  CO LTD

(35%)

People’s Republic of China 
Manufacturing of lifeboats,  
rescue boats & launching  

systems

SUBSIDIARY

SEA REEF 
INTERNATIONAL INC

(100%)

United States of America
Design & engineering solutions
for O&M equipment & systems
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
BASIL CHAN (Chairman) 
MAHTANI BHAGWANDAS 
AHMAD SUBRI BIN ABDULLAH

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
AHMAD SUBRI BIN ABDULLAH (Chairman) 
CHAN LAI THONG
BASIL CHAN

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
MAHTANI BHAGWANDAS (Chairman) 
BASIL CHAN
AHMAD SUBRI BIN ABDULLAH

BOARD RISK COMMITTEE
MAHTANI BHAGWANDAS (Chairman) 
CHAN LAI THONG
BASIL CHAN 

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN LAI YIN, ACIS

SPONSOR
PRIMEPARTNERS CORPORATE FINANCE PTE. LTD.
16 Collyer Quay
#10-00 Income at Raffles
Singapore 049318 

REGISTERED OFFICE
20 Pioneer Crescent
#09-01 West Park BizCentral
Singapore 628555
Tel: +65 6848 1033
Fax: +65 6848 1011
Website: http://www.sbioffshore.com

SHARE REGISTRAR
TRICOR BARBINDER SHARE REGISTRATION SERVICES 
80 Robinson Road #02-00
Singapore 068898

AUDITORS
BDO LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
21 Merchant Road #05-01
Singapore 058267

Partner-in-charge: GOH CHERN NI
(First appointed for the financial year ended 
31 December 2012)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
DBS BANK LTD
12 Marina Boulevard Level 3
Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 3
Singapore 018982

HONG LEONG FINANCE LIMITED 
16 Raffles Quay
#01-05 Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK LIMITED
80 Raffles Place 
#12-00 UOB Plaza 1 
Singapore 048624

CIMB BANK BERHAD, SINGAPORE BRANCH
50 Raffles Place #09-01 
Singapore Land Tower 
Singapore 048623

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAN LAI THONG Executive Chairman and Executive Director

TAN WOO THIAN Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

MIRZAN BIN MAHATHIR Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

BASIL CHAN Lead Independent Director

MAHTANI BHAGWANDAS Independent Director

AHMAD SUBRI BIN ABDULLAH Independent Director
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The Board of Directors of SBI Offshore Limited (the “Board”) is committed to its policy of managing the affairs of the Group 

with transparency, integrity and accountability by ensuring that sound framework of best corporate practices is in place at all 

level of the Group’s business. The Board aspires to discharge its principal responsibility towards protecting and enhancing 

long-term shareholders’ value and investors’ interest.

The Board is pleased to confirm that the Group has applied the principles and guidelines as set out in the 2012 Code of 

Corporate Governance (the “Code”) during the financial year ended 31 December 2014 (“FY2014”), except where otherwise 

stated. Appropriate explanations have been provided in the relevant section below where there are deviations from the Code.

PRINCIPLE 1: THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

The Board is directed by an effective Board to lead and control the Group. The Board is entrusted with the responsibility 

for the overall management of the business and corporate affairs of the Group. The Board works closely and monitors the 

performance of management. The Board oversees processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, 

financial reporting and compliance, and satisfies itself as to the adequacy of such processes. The Board is also responsible 

for considering sustainability issues relating to the environment and social factors as part of the strategic formulation of the 

Group and also to set the Group’s values and standards and provide guidance to Management to ensure that the Company’s 

obligations to its shareholders and the public are met. The Board recognises its responsibility to safeguard shareholders’ 

interests and the Company’s assets. All Directors objectively make decisions in the fiduciary interests of the Group.

The Board has identified matters reserved for its approval and the Board reserved matters had been formalised in writing. 

This would provide clear directions to the Management on matters that must be approved by the Board. Some of the matters 

reserved for the Board are:

•	 Approval	of	periodic	financial	results	announcements	and	annual	audited	financial	statements;

•	 Declaration	of	dividends	and	other	returns	to	shareholders;

•	 Major	corporate	policies	on	key	areas	of	operation;

•	 Corporate	or	financial	restructuring	and	share	issuances;

•	 Mergers	and	acquisitions;

•	 Material	acquisitions	and	disposals;

•	 Approval	of	transactions	involving	interested	person	transactions;	and

•	 Appointment	of	new	Directors.
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The Articles of Association of the Company provide for Directors to convene Board meetings by teleconferencing or 

videoconferencing when a physical Board meeting is not possible. Timely communication with the members of the Board can 

be achieved through electronic means.

The Board meets quarterly. Additional Board meetings are also held at such other times as and when required to address 

any specific significant matters that may arise. The general agenda of the meeting includes discussion over matters arising 

from time to time, financial results of the Group and any other issues requiring the Board’s deliberation and approval. The 

agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all the Directors for their perusal prior to the convening of each meeting to 

enable Directors to obtain further clarification/explanation prior to the meeting to ensure smooth proceeding of each meeting.

The proceedings and resolutions reached at each Board meeting are minuted and signed by the Chairman of the meeting. 

Minutes of all Board Committees and Board meetings are circulated to members for review and confirmation. These minutes 

could also enable Directors to be kept abreast of matters discussed at such meetings. Besides Board meetings, the Board 

exercises control on matters that require Board’s deliberation and approval through the circulation of Directors’ resolution(s).

To improve the Management efficiency, certain functions have been delegated to committees, namely Audit Committee 

(“AC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”), Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Board Risk Committee (“BRC”) (collectively, 

the “Board Committees”). Each of these Board Committees has its own clearly defined written terms of reference and its 

actions are reported regularly to and monitored by the Board.

The attendance of the Directors at every Board and Board Committees meetings held during FY2014 are presented below.

Board AC NC RC BRC

Directors

No. of 

meetings 

held

No. of 

meetings 

attended

No. of 

meetings 

held

No. of 

meetings 

attended

No. of 

meetings 

held

No. of 

meetings 

attended

No. of 

meetings 

held

No. of 

meetings 

attended

No. of 

meetings 

held

No. of 

meetings 

attended

Chan Lai Thong 4 4 – – 1 1 – – 2 1

Tan Woo Thian 4 4 – – – – – – – –

Jen Shek Voon 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 2 2

Mahtani Bhagwandas 4 4 4 4 – – 1 1 2 2

Ahmad Subri Bin 

Abdullah 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 – –

Mirzan Bin Mahathir 1 1 1 – – – – – – – –

Basil Chan 2 – – – – – – – – – –

Giang Sovann 3 3 3 – – – – – – 2 2

1 Appointed on 29 October 2014
2 Appointed on 2 February 2015
3 Resigned on 8 October 2014
4 Resigned on 27 March 2015
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New appointments to the Board will be briefed by Management on the Group’s business operations, governance practices 

and Directors’ duties and obligations to ensure that new Directors have an insight of the Group. Upon appointment, the new 

Director will also be provided with formal letters, setting out their duties and obligations when they are appointed. During the 

year, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer briefed the newly appointed Directors on the Group’s business, strategy and 

operations. The Company provided formal letters to the Directors who were appointed during the year. The Company shall 

be responsible for arranging and funding the training of Directors.

Directors are informed of development relevant to the Group including changes in laws and regulations that impact the Group’s 

operations and have access to all information concerning the Group. They are also encouraged to attend workshops and 

seminars to enhance their skills and knowledge, which will be funded by the Company.

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

The Board currently comprises two Executive Directors, one Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and three Independent 

Directors.

The Board members as at the date of this report are:

Chan Lai Thong, Executive Chairman and Executive Director

Tan Woo Thian, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mirzan Bin Mahathir, Non-Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed on 29 October 2014)

Basil Chan, Lead Independent Director (appointed as Independent Director on 2 February 2015  

 and re-designated as Lead Independent Director on 27 March 2015)

Mahtani Bhagwandas, Independent Director

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah, Independent Director

The criteria for independence are determined based on the definition as provided in the Code. There is an independence 

element on the Board, given that half of the Board are Independent Directors. The Board considers an “independent” director 

as one who has no relationship with the Group, its related companies, its 10% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, 

or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of the Director’s independent judgement with the view to the best 

interest of the Company and the Group. The Company has satisfied the requirement of the Code that at least half of the 

Board comprises Independent Directors where the Chairman of the Board is part of the management team and is not an 

independent director.

The Independent Directors have confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company, its related companies, 

its 10% shareholders, or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the 

Directors’ independent business judgment with a view to the best interests of the Company and Group. The NC has reviewed 

and determined that the said Directors are independent.

Currently, none of the Independent Directors has served on the Board for more than 9 years from the date of his first 

appointment.
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The Board comprises business leaders and professionals with industry and financial backgrounds and its composition enables 

the management to benefit from a diverse and objective external perspective on issues raised before the Board. The Board will 

constantly examine its size annually with a view to determine its impact upon its effectiveness and review its appropriateness 

for the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. The Board, taking into account the nature of operations of the Group, 

considers its current size to be adequate for effective decision-making and believes that the experience, skills and expertise 

of the Board members in areas such as accounting, legal and business would contribute to the Group’s objective.

Non-Executive Directors monitor and review the performance of management and meet regularly without the presence of 

management.

The Board is of the view that the current Board comprises persons who, as a group, provide capabilities required for the Board 

to be effective. These include audit, finance, banking, accounting and legal with entrepreneurial and management experience, 

industry experience and familiarity with regulatory requirement and risk management.

Profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 08 to 09 of this Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE 3: EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) are separately held by two persons. The Chairman of the 

Board, Mr Chan Lai Thong, is the Executive Director of the Company (“Executive Chairman”). The CEO is Mr Tan Woo 

Thian, who is also the Executive Director of the Company. The Chairman and CEO are not immediate family members and 

are not related to each other.

There is a clear separation of the roles and responsibilities between the Executive Chairman and the CEO. The Executive 

Chairman is responsible for the daily overall management of the Group and ensures that the Group’s business are kept distinct 

as well as increasing the accountability and capacity of the Board for independent decision making.

The Executive Chairman’s roles include:

a. Schedule meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering with the flow of the 

Group’s	operations;

b.	 Review	meeting	agenda;

c. Exercise control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between the Management and the 

Board;

d.	 Ensure	effective	communication	with	shareholders;	and

e. Assist in ensuring compliance with the Group’s guidelines on corporate governance.
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The CEO is responsible for the conduct of the Group’s daily business directions and operational decisions.

For good governance, Mr Basil Chan as Lead Independent Director shall be available to shareholders who have concerns 

and for which contact through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman, the CEO or Chief Financial Officer has failed 

to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

PRINCIPLE 4: BOARD MEMBERSHIP

The NC comprises the following members, the majority of whom, including the Chairman of the NC, are independent:

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah – Chairman

Basil Chan – Member

Chan Lai Thong – Member

There is a written terms of reference for the NC. The NC is scheduled to meet at least once a year. Its role is to establish 

an objective and transparent process for the appointment, re-appointment or resignation of members of the Board and 

of the various Board Committees, as well as to evaluate and assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its 

Board Committees, and the effectiveness and contribution of each Director to the Board. The NC also reviews training and 

professional development programs for the Board.

For new appointments, the NC will take into consideration the current Board size and its mix and determine if the candidate’s 

background, experience and knowledge in technology, business or finance management skills will bolster the core 

competencies of the Board. The selected candidate must also be a person of integrity and be prepared to commit time and 

attention to the Company’s affairs, especially if he is serving on multiple boards.

The NC has considered and the Board has concurred with the NC’s guideline that the maximum number of listed company 

board representations a director may hold is five (5). Notwithstanding that Mr Basil Chan currently has directorships in 

more than five listed companies (including the Company), the NC is of the view that, Mr Basil Chan has the capability and 

ability to undertake other obligations or commitments together with serving on the Board effectively. Such number of board 

representations enables the Director to widen his experience as a board member and at the same time, addresses competing 

time commitments faced by the Director who serves on multiple boards. The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention 

has been given by the Directors to the Group.

Where a vacancy arises under any circumstances, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services 

of a new director with particular skills, the NC, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection criteria and selects 

candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience for the position.

The NC has reviewed the credentials and working experiences of Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir and Mr Basil Chan who were 

appointed as Directors on 29 October 2014 and 2 February 2015 respectively. The Board was of the view that both skills 

and knowledge of the newly appointed Directors will contribute to the core competencies of the Board.

The NC is also charged with the responsibility of determining annually whether a director is independent. Each NC member will 

not take part in determining his own re-nomination or independence. During the year, the NC had reviewed and determined 

that Mr Mahtani Bhagwandas, Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah and Mr Basil Chan are independent.
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Under the provisions of Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association, newly appointed directors are required to hold 

office until the next annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) and at least one third of the Directors to retire by 

rotation at every AGM. All directors are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of 

at least once every three years. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM. 

During the year, the newly appointed director, Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir and Mr Basil Chan are due for retirement pursuant to 

Article 99. They are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir, upon re-election, remains as the 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. Mr Basil Chan, upon re-election, remains as the Lead Independent Director, the 

Chairman of AC, member of RC, NC and BRC. Mr Basil Chan will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) 

of Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“Catalist Rules”). 

In making the recommendation, the NC had considered the Directors’ overall contribution and performance.

The NC also recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr Tan Woo Thian and Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah, who are due 

for retirement at the AGM pursuant to Article 93 of the Articles of Association of the Company. Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah, 

upon re-election, remains as the Independent Director, Chairman of the NC, a member of the AC and RC. Mr Ahmad Subri 

Bin Abdullah will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. The Board has accepted 

the recommendation of the NC.

The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision making by 

the Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual or group of individuals exercising any 

considerable concentration of power or influence and there is accountability for good corporate governance. All the Board 

Committees are chaired by Independent Directors and at least half of the Board consists of Independent Directors. The NC 

will review Board succession plans in due course.

PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS

Name of Directors
Date of first 
appointment

Date of last 
re-election

Nature of 
Appointment

Membership of 
Board Committee

Directorship/chairmanship both 
present and those held over the 
preceding three years in other 

listed companies

Chan Lai Thong 28 September 2009 29 April 2014 Executive Chairman/ 
Executive Director

Member of NC and 
BRC

None

Tan Woo Thian 1 July 1997 30 April 2013 Chief Executive Officer/
Executive Director

None None

Giang Sovann 28 September 2009 
(resigned on 8 
October 2014)

25 April 2012 Executive Director Member of BRC None

Jen Shek Voon 5 July 2013 (resigned 
on 27 March 2015)

29 April 2014 Lead Independent 
Director

Chairman of AC, 
Member of RC, NC 
and BRC

1. Jumma Tyre Cord Company 
Limited

2. Ajisen (China) Holdings Limited 
(Listed on Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange)

3. Metech International Limited 
(Resigned on 24 October 2013)

4. Suiwah Corporation Berhad 
(Listed on Bursa Saham Malaysia)
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Name of Directors
Date of first 
appointment

Date of last 
re-election

Nature of 
Appointment

Membership of 
Board Committee

Directorship/chairmanship both 
present and those held over the 
preceding three years in other 

listed companies

Mahtani Bhagwandas 14 September 2012 29 April 2014 Independent Director Chairman of RC and 
BRC, Member of AC

1. GKE Corporation Limited
2. GRP Limited
3. Alliance Mineral Assets Limited

Ahmad Subri Bin 
Abdullah

10 January 2013 30 April 2013 Independent Director Chairman of NC, 
Member of AC and 
RC

ECS ICT Berhad (Listed on Bursa 
Saham Malaysia)

Mirzan Bin Mahathir 29 October 2014 Not Applicable Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director

None 1. Petron Corporation (Listed on 
Philippine Stock Exchange)

2. Lafe Corporation Ltd (Resigned 
on 26 April 2013)

3. AHB Holdings Berhad (Listed on 
Bursa Saham Malaysia, resigned 
on 12 September 2014)

Basil Chan 2 February 2015 Not Applicable Lead Independent 
Director

Chairman of AC, 
member of RC, NC 
and BRC

1. Seroja Investments Limited 
(Resigned on 24 April 2012)

2. Teledata (Singapore) Ltd 
(Resigned on 3 March 2014)

3. Singapore eDevelopment Limited 
(formerly known as CCM Group 
Limited)

4. AEM Holdings Ltd
5. Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd
6. Grand Banks Yachts Limited
7. Global Invacom Group Limited

Details of other principal commitments of the Directors are set out in Page 08 and 09 of this Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE 5: BOARD PERFORMANCE

The Board has a formal process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole with objective performance criteria. 

The NC decides on how the Board’s performance is to be evaluated and proposes objective performance criteria, subject 

to the Board’s approval. Such performance criteria allow comparison with industry peers and address how the Board has 

enhanced long-term shareholders’ value. The Board has also conducted an assessment of the functions and effectiveness 

of the Board as a whole and its Board Committees and the contribution from each Director to the effectiveness of the Board 

The Board assessment takes into consideration both qualitative and quantitative criteria, such as return on equity, success of 

the strategic and long-term objectives set by the Board and the effectiveness of the Board in monitoring the Management’s 

performance against the goals that had been set by the Board. Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any 

resolution in respect of the assessment of his performance or re-election as a Director.

The results of the evaluation process will be used by the NC, in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, to effect 

continuing improvements on Board processes. The NC has looked into the comments and suggestions raised during the 

evaluation process.
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The NC has assessed the current Board’s performance to-date and is of the view that the performance of the Board as a 

whole has been satisfactory.

PRINCIPLE 6: ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Board is provided with complete, adequate and timely information to enable them to fulfill their duties and responsibilities. 

Detailed board papers and related materials will be prepared for each Board meeting. The Management reports with the 

necessary information including, but not limited to financial reports, are provided to the Directors in a timely manner to enable 

them to make informed decisions.

The Directors have separate and independent access to the Group’s senior management and the Company Secretary at 

all times. The Company Secretary will be present at all Board and Board Committees meetings, advising the Board on all 

governance matters and to ensure that they are conducted in accordance with Articles of Association of the Company, 

applicable rules and regulations, and the provisions in the Catalist Rules are complied with. The appointment or removal of 

the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

The Directors, whether individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties require professional advice, may engage 

independent professionals to obtain advice and enable Directors to discharge their duties with adequate knowledge on the 

matters being deliberated, if necessary. The cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

PRINCIPLE 7: PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

The RC comprises the following members, all of whom, including the Chairman of the RC, are independent:

Mahtani Bhagwandas – Chairman

Basil Chan – Member

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah – Member

The RC is scheduled to meet at least once a year. The responsibilities of the RC as written in the terms of reference include:

•	 To	review	and	recommend	to	the	Board	a	framework	of	remuneration	and	determine	the	appropriateness	of	specific	

remuneration packages awarded to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors, the CEO and key management 

personnel without being excessive, and thereby maximise shareholders’ value. The recommendations should cover 

all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and 

benefits	in	kind;

•	 To	review	the	proportion	of	such	remuneration	that	should	be	linked	to	performance	of	the	Group	as	well	as	individual	

incumbent;	and

•	 To	administer	the	Company’s	Employees	Share	Option	Scheme	or	any	long-term	incentive	scheme.

The RC may obtain independent external legal and other professional advice as mentioned above, as it deems necessary on 

the Company’s remuneration matters. Expenses of such advice shall be borne by the Company.
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PRINCIPLE 8: LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

As part of its review, the RC ensures that the remuneration packages are comparable within the industry and with similar 

companies and has taken into consideration the Group’s relative performance and the performance of individual Directors.

The Independent Directors do not have service agreements with the Company. They are paid directors’ fees, which are 

determined by the Board, appropriate to the level of their contribution and attendance at meetings, taking into account 

factors such as the effort and time spent and the responsibilities of the Independent Directors. The fees are recommended to 

shareholders for approval at the AGM. Except as disclosed, the Independent Directors do not receive any other remuneration 

from the Company.

The Company had entered into a service agreement with the Executive Director, Mr Tan Woo Thian on 1 August 2009 for a 

period of five years with effect from the date of admission of the Company to the Catalist board of the SGX-ST. The service 

agreement shall be automatically renewed annually after the end of the fifth year for such annual period thereafter unless 

otherwise agreed in writing between the Company and Mr Tan Woo Thian. The Company had also entered into a service 

agreement with Mr Chan Lai Thong on 17 August 2012 for a period of five years. The service agreement shall be automatically 

renewed annually after the end of the fifth year for such annual period thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing between 

the Company and Mr Chan Lai Thong.

The Company adopts a remuneration policy that comprises a fixed component as well as a variable component. The fixed 

component is in a form of base salary and benefits while the variable component is pegged to the performance of the Group.

All revisions to the remuneration packages for Directors and key management personnel are subject to the review and approval 

of the Board. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration package. Directors’ fees are paid after approval by 

shareholders at the AGM.
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PRINCIPLE 9:  DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

The remuneration packages of Directors, CEO and top key management personnel of the Group for FY2014 are as follows:

Salary Bonus Others Fees Total

% % % % %

Directors

S$1,000,000 – S$1,250,000

Chan Lai Thong 36 5 59 – 100

S$250,000 – S$500,000

Tan Woo Thian 88 12 – – 100

Below S$250,000

Giang Sovann (resigned on 8 October 2014) 81 19 – – 100

Mahtani Bhagwandas – – – 100 100

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah – – – 100 100

Jen Shek Voon (resigned on 27 March 2015) – – – 100 100

Mirzan Bin Mahathir  

(appointed on 29 October 2014) – – – 100 100

Key Management Personnel

S$250,000 – S$500,000

David George Aimer Andison  

(appointed on 6 February 2014) 97 3 – – 100

Below S$250,000

Chan Kin Seng (resigned on 12 January 2014) 100 – – – 100

Amy Soh Wai Ling 

(appointed on 15 September 2014) 100 – – – 100

* Employer’s Central Provident Fund Contribution (“CPF”) is not included in the above table.

As at the end of FY2014, the Company has only 2 key management personnel (who is not the Director or CEO of the 

Company).

Further information on the Directors and key management personnel are found on pages 08 to 10 of this report.

The above remuneration has been pro-rated according to their date of appointment or date of resignation (where applicable).

Other than the CPF, there were no termination, retirement, and post-employment benefits that may be granted to the Directors, 

the CEO, and the key management personnel.

For competitive reasons, the Company is not disclosing each individual Director’s remuneration. Instead, the Company is 

disclosing remuneration of each Director in bands of S$250,000. To maintain confidentiality of staff remuneration and to 

prevent poaching of key management personnel, the Company shall not disclose the aggregate remuneration paid to the key 

management personnel of the Group in this report.
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Ms Chen Jiayu (“Ms Chen”) is the daughter of Mr Tan Woo Thian, the Executive Director and CEO of the Company and she 

is the Human Resources and Administrative Manager of the Company. The remuneration of Ms Chen in FY2014 was in the 

band of S$100,000 to S$150,000. Save as disclosed, there were no employees who were immediate family members of a 

Director or the CEO of the Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 in FY2014.

Employee share option scheme

The SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Employee Share Option Scheme”) was established on 28 September 

2009. The RC administers the Employees Share Option Scheme based on the rules of the Employees Share Option Scheme 

and determines participation eligibility, option offers and share allocation and attends to matters that may be required in 

connection with the Employee Share Option Scheme.

Information on the options granted under the Share Option Scheme to participants is as follows:

Options granted to

Options granted during 

the financial year 

under review

Aggregate options 

granted since 

commencement of 

scheme to the end of 

financial year under 

review 

Aggregate options  

lapsed since 

commencement of 

scheme to the end of 

financial year under 

review

Aggregate options 

outstanding as at end 

of financial year under 

review

Employees – 13,000,000 3,000,000 (1) 10,000,000

(1) The options granted to Mr Giang Sovann lapsed following his resignation as the Director of the Company on 8 October 
2014.

Please refer to the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report for further details of the Employee Share Option Scheme.

Performance share plan

The RC administers the SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) which was approved by shareholders on 30 April 

2013. The shareholders approved the proposed grant of award of 10 million shares to Mr Chan Lai Thong under the PSP 

subject to the fulfillment of performance target and vesting conditions as set out in the shareholders’ circular dated 15 April 

2013. On 14 April 2014, the Company had released 3 million shares to Mr Chan Lai Thong pursuant to the fulfillment of the 

vesting conditions. On 18 July 2014, the remaining 7 million shares had been released to Mr Chan Lai Thong pursuant to 

the fulfillment of the vesting conditions.

Please refer to the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report for further details of the PSP.

PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is accountable to the Board. The Board updates 

shareholders on the Group’s performance, position and prospects through the dissemination of half-year and full-year results 

announcements and annual reports and where appropriate, press releases and media and analyst briefings. The Management 

provides the Board with understandable and detailed information of the Group’s performance, position and prospects on a 

quarterly basis for its effective monitoring and decision-making. The Board also takes adequate step to ensure compliance 

with regulatory requirements.
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PRINCIPLE 11:  RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group has in place a system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the 

Group’s assets. The Board regularly reviews the Group’s businesses and operational activities to identify areas of significant 

risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The Management reviews significant control policies 

and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Board.

The BRC comprises the following members:

Mahtani Bhagwandas -Chairman

Chan Lai Thong – Member

Basil Chan – Member

There is a written terms of reference for BRC. The BRC is scheduled to meet at least two times a year. Its role is to assist 

the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation to risk management of the Group and 

each of its subsidiaries.

The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of risk management and internal controls 

maintained by the Group’s Management throughout the financial year up to the date of this report is adequate to meet 

the needs of the Group in its current business environment. The system of risk management and internal controls provide 

reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material financial misstatements or loss, and include the safeguarding of assets, 

the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation, 

regulations and best practices, and the identification and containment of business risk. The Board, however, recognises that 

no cost effective system of internal controls could preclude all errors and irregularities. The internal control system is designed 

to manage rather than eliminate all risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Board through the BRC and AC, reviews the adequacy of the Group’s risk management framework and internal controls, 

with the assistance of the external and internal auditors, to ensure that robust risk management and internal controls are 

in place. These include assessment of the key risks relating to financial, operational and compliance risks and information 

technology systems. Based on the system of risk management and internal controls established and maintained by the Group, 

work performed by the internal and external auditors, and reviews performed by the Management, the Board and its various 

Board Committees, the Board with the concurrence of the AC, are of the opinion that the Company’s internal controls (including 

financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk management systems were adequate and 

effective in FY2014. The Board received assurance in writing from Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer, namely Mr 

Chan Lai Thong and Ms Amy Soh Wai Ling, that financial records have been properly maintained and financial statements of 

the Group give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finance. The assurance from Mr Chan Lai Thong and Ms 

Amy Soh Wai Ling also includes effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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PRINCIPLE 12:  AUDIT COMMITTEE

The AC currently comprises the following members, all of whom, including the Chairman are Independent Directors:

Basil Chan – Chairman

Mahtani Bhagwandas – Member

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah – Member

The members have expertise or experience in accounting or related financial management expertise or experience and the 

Board considers that the members are appropriately qualified to discharge the responsibilities of the AC.

The main functions of the AC as written in the terms of reference include:

•	 Review	the	overall	scope	of	examination	of	 the	external	auditors,	 the	audit	plan	and	their	evaluation	of	 the	Group’s	

system	of	risk	management,	compliance	and	internal	controls;

•	 Review	the	co-operation	given	by	management	to	the	external	auditors	and	internal	auditors,	and	discuss	problems	

and	concerns,	if	any,	rising	from	the	interim	and	final	audits;

•	 Review	the	independence	of	the	external	auditors	annually,	recommend	the	appointment	of	the	external	auditors	and	

their	level	of	audit	fees;

•	 Review	the	adequacy	of	the	Company’s	internal	controls	and	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	function;

•	 Review	 the	 Group’s	 half-year	 and	 full-year	 results	 announcements	 prior	 to	 its	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 for	

approval;	and

•	 Review	interested	person	transactions	(if	any)	falling	within	the	scope	of	Chapter	9	of	the	Catalist	Rules.

The AC has explicit authority by the Board to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. All employees shall be 

directed to co-operate as requested by the members of the AC. The AC has full and unlimited/unrestricted access to all 

information and documents/resources as well as to the internal and external auditors and senior management of the Company 

and the Group which are required to perform its duties. All audit findings and recommendations put up by the internal and 

the external auditors were forwarded to the AC. Significant issues were discussed during the meetings. The AC is authorised 

by the Board at the expense of the Company to obtain external legal or other independent professional advice and to secure 

the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary. The AC has reasonable 

resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. The AC received updates on changes in accounting standards from 

the external auditors periodically. The AC members have expertise, experience and are members of relevant professional 

organizations to keep them abreast of changes in accounting standards, Catalist Rules and other regulations which could 

have impact on the Group’s business and financial statements.

During the financial year, the AC has reviewed the scope and quality of the audits and the independence and objectivity 

of the external auditors as well as the cost effectiveness. The AC is satisfied that the external auditors, Messrs BDO LLP 

(“External Auditors”) is able to meet the audit requirements and statutory obligation of the Company. The AC reviewed all 

audit and non-audit fee provided by the External Auditors, during the year and the AC noted that there was no non-audit 

service provided by the External Auditors. The AC is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the External Auditors.
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The AC has recommended and the Board has approved the nomination for re-appointment of Messrs BDO LLP as the 

External Auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. Details of the audit and non-audit fees are set out on page 69 

of this Annual Report.

The AC meets with the External Auditors without the presence of the Management at least once a year.

The Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules in relation to its External Auditors.

The Company has formulated the guidelines for a whistle-blowing policy to provide a channel for employees and any external 

parties of the Group to report in good faith and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible improprieties 

in financial reporting and other matters. The objective of the policy is to ensure that there is independent investigation of 

such matters and that appropriate follow up actions will be taken. Employees and external parties could approach the AC 

Chairman directly on any concerns that they may have. Matters raised may be investigated by the Management, the internal 

auditors and the AC. This policy will be reviewed, prior to the start of each calendar year, by the Board so as to ensure the 

continuing effectiveness of the same. The whistle-blowing policy and the code of conduct and ethics are posted in the Investor 

Relations section of our corporate website.

PRINCIPLE 13:  INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company had appointed the public accounting firm, Foo Kon Tan LLP (formerly known as Messrs Grant Thornton Advisory 

Services Pte Ltd) (the “Internal Auditors”), as the internal auditors to review the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal 

control system. The Internal Auditors meet the standard for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute 

of Internal Auditors. The Internal Auditors reports directly to the AC Chairman.

The scope of the internal audit is:

–	 to	review	the	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	material	internal	controls;

–	 to	provide	assurance	that	key	business	and	operational	risks	are	identified	and	managed;

–	 to	determine	that	internal	controls	are	in	place	and	functioning	as	intended;	and

– to evaluate whether the operations are conducted in an effective and efficient manner.

The AC had reviewed with the Internal Auditors their audit plan, their audit findings and Management’s processes to those 

findings, their evaluation of the effectiveness of material internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance and 

information technology controls and overall risk management of the Company and the Group. The Internal Auditors has access 

to all records including access to AC. The AC had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function at 

least annually. The AC is satisfied that the Internal Auditors was adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within 

the Group in FY2014.

The Internal Auditors had resigned on 21 November 2014 due to insufficient resources to continue supporting the Group’s 

internal audit function in the following financial year ending 31 December 2015. The Company is currently in the process of 

appointing a replacement of the Internal Auditors.
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PRINCIPLE 14:  SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

The Company continually reviews and updates its governance arrangements to recognise, protect and facilitate the exercise 

of shareholders’ rights and to ensure that all shareholders, investors and public are treated fairly and equitably. All material 

information affecting the Company is promptly and adequately disclosed via SGXNET. All shareholders are accorded their 

rights in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap 50 of Singapore and the Company’s Article of Association.

PRINCIPLE 15:  COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has engaged the service of a professional investor relations firm in Singapore and has held a number of briefings 

for shareholders, analysts and brokers during the year.

The Board is mindful of its obligations to provide timely disclosure of material information to shareholders. Shareholders are 

kept abreast of all important developments concerning the Group through regular and timely dissemination of information 

via SGXNET announcements, press releases, annual reports, and various other announcements made during the year. The 

Company continually updates its corporate website at http://www.sbioffshore.com through which shareholders will be able 

to access information on the Group.

Currently, the Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. In consideration for dividend payment, the Company has taken 

into account, among other factors, current cash positions, future cash needs, profitability, retained earnings and business 

outlook. No dividend has been declared or recommended for FY2014 as the Company intends to conserve its cash for future 

needs in view of the uncertain global economic outlook.

PRINCIPLE 16:  CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

The Articles of Association of the Company allows shareholders of the Company the right to appoint two (2) proxies to attend 

and vote on their behalf on the shareholders’ meetings.

Annual reports and circulars, including the notices of meetings are dispatched to all shareholders. The Board regards the 

shareholders’ meetings as the main forum where dialogue with shareholders can be effectively conducted. The members of 

the Board Committees, including the respective chairpersons, will be present at shareholders’ meetings to answer questions 

from shareholders. The Management and the External Auditors will also be present to assist the Directors in addressing any 

relevant queries by shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the shareholders’ meetings to ensure a high level 

of accountability and to stay informed of the Company’s strategy and goals. The Board allows all shareholders to exercise 

its voting right by participation and voting by hands at shareholders’ meetings. The Company shall, for the time being, put all 

resolutions to vote by show of hands as it is of the view that voting by poll is logistically burdensome and not cost effective. 

The Company would adopt poll voting for its shareholders’ meetings held on or after 1 August 2015. The Company will make 

available minutes of the shareholders’ meetings to shareholders upon their request.

The Company ensures that there are separate resolutions at shareholders’ meetings on each distinct issue.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has adopted an internal code of conduct to provide guidance to the Company, its officers including Directors, 

management staff and employees (collectively, “Officers”) with regard to dealings in the Company’s securities. The Code 

prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities by the Company and the Officers of the Group while in possession of unpublished 

price-sensitive information. The Company and the Officers of the Group should not deal in the Company’s securities on 

short-term considerations and during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Group’s half-year 

and full-year results and ending on the date of the announcement of the results. The Officers are also required to adhere to 

any other relevant regulations with regard to their securities transactions.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)

All IPTs are documented and submitted periodically to the AC for their review to ensure that such transactions are carried out 

on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company.

The Company does not have a general shareholders’ mandate for recurrent IPTs.

The Company confirms that there were no IPTs that fall within the ambit of the disclosure requirements under Chapter 9 of 

the Catalist Rules during FY2014.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the service agreements between the Executive Directors and the Company, there were no material contracts entered 

into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interest of the controlling shareholder or Director, which are either still 

subsisting at the end of FY2014 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

NON-SPONSOR FEES

The Continuing Sponsor of the Company was changed from CNP Compliance Pte. Ltd. (“CNPC”) to PrimePartners Corporate 

Finance Pte. Ltd. (“PPCF”) with effect from 1 July 2014.

There were no non-sponsor fees paid to CNPC and PPCF in FY2014.

The total amount of fees paid to the affiliates of CNPC, namely Colin Ng & Partners LLP for legal work done in FY2014 were 

approximately S$10,500 (excluding disbursements and GST).
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USE OF PROCEEDS

On 27 December 2013, the Company issued 22 million new ordinary shares via share placements to a fund manager at an 

issue price of S$0.125 per share, raising net proceeds of S$2.7 million (US$2.2 million). As at the date of this Annual Report, 

the Company had utilised approximately S$1.4 million of the net proceeds for existing projects expenses. The use of proceeds 

is in accordance with the stated use and percentage allocated as per the Company’s announcement dated 4 December 2013.

In October 2014, the Company issued 62 million new ordinary shares via share placements to four investors at an issue price 

of S$0.2605 per share, raising net proceeds of S$16.1 million (US$12.8 million). As at the date of this Annual Report, the 

Company had utilised approximately S$1.2 million of the net proceeds for working capital in relation to day-to-day running 

expenses such as trades related and general administrative expenses and funding for existing projects. The use of proceeds is 

in accordance with the stated use and percentage allocated as per the Company’s announcement dated 23 September 2014.
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The Directors of the Company present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of SBI 

Offshore Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and 

the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and the statement of changes in equity of the 

Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

1. Directors

The Directors of the Company at the date of this report are as follows:

Chan Lai Thong

Tan Woo Thian

Mirzan Bin Mahathir (Appointed on 29 October 2014)

Basil Chan (Appointed on 2 February 2015)

Mahtani Bhagwandas

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah

2. Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares or debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 

object was to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate except as disclosed in paragraph 5 of this report.

3. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

According to the Register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the 

Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the Directors holding office at the end of the financial year 

had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations except as detailed below:

Shareholdings registered Shareholdings in which Directors

in the name of Directors are deemed to have an interest

Balance at

1 January

2014 or 

date of 

appointment, 

if later

Balance at

31 December 

2014

Balance at

21 January

2015

Balance at 

1 January

2014 or 

date of 

appointment, 

if later

Balance at

31 December 

2014

Balance at

21 January

2015

Number of ordinary shares

Company

Tan Woo Thian 45,900,000 45,900,000 45,900,000 – – –

Chan Lai Thong 4,010,000 14,010,000 14,010,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

Mahtani Bhagwandas 117,000 117,000 117,000 – – –

Mirzan Bin Mahathir – – – 27,000,000 27,000,000 27,000,000

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr Tan Woo Thian is deemed to have an interest in all the subsidiaries of the Company 

at the beginning and end of the financial year.
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4. Directors’ contractual benefits

Except as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no Director 

of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed under Section 

201(8) of the Act by reason of a contract made by the Company or by a related corporation with the Director of the 

Company, or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

5. Share options and performance shares

The SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved and adopted by its members at an 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 September 2009.

The SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary 

General Meeting held on 30 April 2013.

The ESOS and PSP are administered by the Remuneration Committee (the “RC”), comprising Mr Mahtani Bhagwandas, 

Chairman of the RC, Mr Basil Chan and Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah.

In exercising its discretion, the RC must act in accordance with any guidelines that may be provided by the Board of 

Directors (“Board”). The RC shall refer any matter not falling within the scope of its terms of reference to the Board. 

The RC shall have the power, from time to time, to make and vary such regulations for the implementation and 

administration of the ESOS and PSP as it thinks fit.

No participants have received 5% or more of the total number of shares other than disclosed below.

ESOS

Options are exercisable at price based on the average of the last done prices for the shares of the Company on the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Limited (“SGX-ST”) for the five market days preceding the date of grant. The RC 

may at its discretion fix the exercise price at a discount not exceeding 20% to the above price. If the options remain 

unexercised after the first anniversary of the day granted until the tenth anniversary, the options will expire. Options 

are forfeited if the employees leave the Company before the options vest.

a) Options granted

Options granted on 8 January 2013

10,000,000 share options were granted to Mr Chan Lai Thong, Executive Director and Executive Chairman of 

the Company, at the exercise price of S$0.10 on 8 January 2013. The options are vested over various vesting 

periods after the first anniversary, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary in respect of 20% respectively of 

the options granted and exercisable until 8 January 2023.
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5. Share options and performance shares (Continued)

ESOS (Continued)

a) Options granted (Continued)

Options granted on 26 December 2013

3,000,000 share options were granted to Mr Giang Sovann, Executive Director of the Company (resigned on 

8 October 2014), at the exercise price of S$0.10 on 26 December 2013. The options are vested over various 

vesting periods after the second anniversary, third, fourth and fifth anniversary in respect of 25% respectively 

of the options granted and exercisable until 26 December 2023.

b) Unissued shares under options

At the end of the financial year, the number of unissued shares under options was as follows:

Date of grant

At 

beginning 

of the 

year

Forfeited/

cancelled

Exercised 

during 

the year

At end 

of the year

Exercise 

price 

S$ Exercise period

8.1.2013 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000 0.10 8.1.2014 to 8.1.2023

26.12.2013 3,000,000 (3,000,000) – – 0.10 26.12.2015 to 26.12.2023

There were no shares issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued 

shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

PSP

The PSP is targeted to incentivise participants in key positions who are able to drive the growth of the Company to 

excel in their performance and encourage greater dedication and loyalty to the Company.

a) Eligible participants

i) Employees

•	 confirmed	full-time	employees	who	have	attained	the	age	of	21	years	on	or	before	the	date	of	

award; or

•	 Executive	Directors	who	are	Controlling	Shareholders	and	Executive	Directors	who	are	Associates	

of Controlling Shareholders; and

ii) Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors who, in the opinion of the RC, have contributed or 

will contribute to the success of the Group.

There shall be no restriction on the eligibility of any participant to participate in any other share option or share 

incentive schemes implemented or to be implemented by the Company or the Group.
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5. Share options and performance shares (Continued)

PSP (Continued)

b) Maximum allowable allotment

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued pursuant to PSP granted on any date, when added to 

the number of new shares issued and/or issuable in respect of all PSP granted and any other share scheme 

which the Company may implement from time to time, including but not limited to the ESOS, will not exceed 

15% of the total issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding 

the grant date.

The following additional limits must not be exceeded:

i) The aggregate number of shares available to controlling shareholders and their associates must not 

exceed 25% of the shares available under PSP; and

ii) The number of shares available to each controlling shareholder of his associate must not exceed 10% 

of the shares available under PSP.

The number of shares to be awarded to the participants in accordance with PSP shall be determined by the 

RC at its absolute discretion, such discretion shall be exercised taking into account criteria such as the rank 

and the responsibilities, performance, years of service and potential for future development of the participant.

c) Duration

PSP shall continue in force at the discretion of the RC, subject to a maximum period of 10 years, commencing 

on the date on which PSP is adopted by the Company in a general meeting, provided always that PSP may 

continue beyond the above stipulated period with the approval of Shareholders by ordinary resolution in a 

general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then be required.

Notwithstanding the expiry or termination of PSP, any awards made to participants prior to such expiry or 

termination will continue to remain valid.

From the commencement of the PSP to 31 December 2014, awards comprising an aggregate of 10,000,000 

shares have been granted. During the financial year, 10,000,000 performance shares granted to Mr Chan Lai 

Thong were vested upon achievement of certain performance targets over the performance period.

Performance shares granted, vested and cancelled during the financial year and outstanding as at the end of 

the financial year are as follows:

Date of grant

At beginning 

of the year

Share 

awards 

granted

Share 

awards 

vested

Shares 

awards 

cancelled

At end 

of the year

Performance shares

Chan Lai Thong

30.4.2013 10,000,000 – (10,000,000) – –
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6. Audit committee

The Audit Committee comprises the following members who, including the Chairman, are all Independent Non-Executive 

Directors of the Company. The members of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report are:

Basil Chan  (Chairman, appointed on 27 March 2015)

Mahtani Bhagwandas

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B(5) of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and 

the Code of Corporate Governance. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee reviewed the audit plans and 

the overall scope of examination by the external auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee also reviewed the 

independence of the external auditors of the Company and the nature and extent of the non-audit services provided 

by the external auditors.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external 

auditors, the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group prior to their submission to the Directors of the Company for adoption and reviewed 

the interested person transactions as defined in Chapter 9 of the Rules of Catalist of the SGX-ST.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources 

required for it to discharge its function properly. It has also full authority and discretion to invite any Director or executive 

officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and 

reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended 

to the Board of Directors the nomination of BDO LLP, for re-appointment as auditors of the Company at the forthcoming 

Annual General Meeting.
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7. Auditors

The auditors, BDO LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chan Lai Thong Tan Woo Thian

Director Director

Singapore

31 March 2015
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In the opinion of the Board of Directors,

(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes 

in equity of the Company together with the notes thereon are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 

the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair 

view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014, and of the results, changes in 

equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date; 

and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chan Lai Thong Tan Woo Thian

Director Director

Singapore

31 March 2015
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SBI Offshore Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014, 

and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity of the Group and of the Company 

and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 39 to 110.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 

devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 

are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 

are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 

maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement 

of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 

31 December 2014 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company 

for the financial year ended on that date.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 

incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

BDO LLP

Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

31 March 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Group

2014 2013

Note US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 4 14,149 41,792

Cost of sales (8,309) (36,314)

Gross profit 5,840 5,478

Other items of income

Interest income 102 13

Other income 5 27 64

Other items of expense

Administrative and other expenses (5,544) (4,930)

Finance costs 6 (70) (142)

Share of results of an associate, net of tax 212 187

Share of results of a joint venture, net of tax 447 510

Profit before income tax 7 1,014 1,180

Income tax expense 8 (404) (203)

Profit for the financial year 610 977

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations, 

 net of tax of US$Nil (117) 132

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 493 1,109

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 610 987

Non-controlling interests – (10)

610 977

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 493 1,119

Non-controlling interests – (10)

493 1,109

Earnings per share (cents) 9

 – Basic 0.31 0.67

 – Diluted 0.30 0.58

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 4,908 5,411 128 177

Intangible assets 11 1,157 1,326 72 108

Investments in subsidiaries 12 – – 4,201 5,200

Investment in associate 13 2,933 2,721 1,800 1,800

Investment in joint venture 14 1,524 1,077 50 50

10,522 10,535 6,251 7,335

Current assets

Inventories 15 30 967 – 251

Trade and other receivables 16 11,071 8,390 17,854 14,474

Cash and cash equivalents 17 18,000 7,586 13,413 7,363

29,101 16,943 31,267 22,088

Less:

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 8,130 8,690 6,486 8,713

Current income tax payable 431 211 33 190

Bank borrowings 20 940 1,967 940 1,967

9,501 10,868 7,459 10,870

Net current assets 19,600 6,075 23,808 11,218

Less:

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 21 4 23 4 4

Net assets 30,118 16,587 30,055 18,549

Equity

Share capital 22 25,253 11,559 25,253 11,559

Other reserves 23 167 535 202 570

Foreign currency translation reserve 25 479 596 – –

Accumulated profits 4,219 3,897 4,600 6,420

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 30,118 16,587 30,055 18,549

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Company

Share 

capital

Share-based 

payment 

reserve

Accumulated 

profits

Total 

equity

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 11,559 570 6,420 18,549

Total comprehensive income 

 for the financial year

Loss for the financial year – – (1,532) (1,532)

Transactions with owners of the parent 

 recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares under performance share plan, 

 net of share issue expenses 22 918 (925) – (7)

Issue of shares pursuant to placement, 

 net of share issue expenses 22 12,776 – – 12,776

Employee share-based payment 24 – 557 – 557

Dividends 26 – – (288) (288)

Total transactions with owners of the parent 13,694 (368) (288) 13,038

Balance at 31 December 2014 25,253 202 4,600 30,055

Balance at 1 January 2013 6,397 – 6,399 12,796

Total comprehensive income 

 for the financial year

Profit for the financial year – – 264 264

Transactions with owners of the 

 parent recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares pursuant to placements, 

 net of share issue expenses 22 5,162 – – 5,162

Employee share-based payment 24 – 570 – 570

Dividends 26 – – (243) (243)

Total transactions with owners of the parent 5,162 570 (243) 5,489

Balance at 31 December 2013 11,559 570 6,420 18,549

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Group

2014 2013

Note US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities

Profit before income tax 1,014 1,180

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 73 81

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 398 416

Loss on plant and equipment written off – 9

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 45 36

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 69 –

Allowance for obsolete inventories 100 –

Interest income (102) (13)

Interest expense 70 142

Share of results of an associate (212) (187)

Share of results of a joint venture (447) (510)

Employee share-based payment 557 570

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 1,565 1,724

Working capital changes:

Inventories 837 (350)

Trade and other receivables (2,635) 3,281

Trade and other payables (506) (5,848)

Cash used in operations (739) (1,193)

Interest income 102 13

Interest expense (70) (142)

Income tax paid, net of tax refund (164) (17)

Net cash used in operating activities (871) (1,339)

Investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment 10 (75) (209)

Purchase of intangible assets (1) (114)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 20 –

Additional investment in a subsidiary 12 – (120)

Net cash used in investing activities (56) (443)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2014 45

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Group

2014 2013

Note US$’000 US$’000

Financing activities

Repayment of bank borrowings (4,317) (12,256)

Proceeds from bank borrowings 3,290 8,720

Release of pledge of bank deposits with banks 1,963 3,920

Pledge of fixed deposits with banks – (250)

Proceeds from issuance of shares pursuant to placements, 

 net of share issue expenses 22 12,776 5,162

Share issue expenses in respect of issuance of performance shares 22 (7) –

Dividends paid 26 (288) (243)

Net cash generated from financing activities 13,417 5,053

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 12,490 3,271

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 4,884 1,583

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes in cash and cash equivalents (111) 30

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 17 17,263 4,884

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements.

1. GENERAL CORPORATE INFORMATION

SBI Offshore Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic 

of Singapore. The Company was admitted to the official list of Catalist under Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 

Limited on 11 November 2009. The Company’s registered office address and principal place of business is at 20 Pioneer 

Crescent, #09-01 West Park BizCentral, Singapore 628555. The Company’s registration number is 199407121D.

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding, marketing and distribution of drilling and 

related equipment, integrated engineering and equipment solutions.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

The statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 were 

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2015.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies 

Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) including the related Interpretations of 

FRS (“INT FRS”) and are prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting 

policies below.

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements 

of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are 

presented in United States dollar (“US$”), which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 

currency for the consolidated financial statements. The financial statements are expressed in US$ and rounded 

to the nearest thousand (“US$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the Group’s application of accounting policies and reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 

of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. Critical accounting judgements 

and key sources of estimation of uncertainty used that are significant to the financial statements are disclosed 

in Note 3 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

During the financial year, the Group and the Company has adopted all the new or revised FRS and INT FRS that 

are relevant to their operations and effective for the current financial year. The adoption of the new or revised 

FRS and INT FRS did not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting 

policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current and prior financial years, except 

as detailed below.

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and FRS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements

FRS 110 introduces a single new control model, as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated 

in the Group’s financial statements. Under FRS 110, control exists when the Group has:

– power over an investee;

– exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee; and

– the ability to use its power over an investee to affect the Group’s returns from the investee.

The Group has applied FRS 110 retrospectively, in accordance with the transitional provisions of FRS 110 and 

changed its accounting policy for determining whether it has control over an entity and whether it is required 

to consolidate that interest. The adoption of FRS 110 did not result in any changes to the control conclusions 

reached by the Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at the date of initial adoption on  

1 January 2014. The adoption of FRS 27 (Revised) did not result in any changes to the Group’s or the 

Company’s financial statements.

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements and FRS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

FRS 111 requires a joint arrangement to be classified as either a joint operation or a joint venture based on the 

parties’ rights and obligations under the arrangement. Under FRS 111, joint ventures must be accounted for 

using the equity method and recognised as a single investment, as described in FRS 28 (Revised) Investments 

in Associates and Joint Ventures, and proportionate consolidation is prohibited. Parties to a joint operation 

account for their share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with their contractual rights 

and obligations. The adoption of FRS 111 and FRS 28 does not have any impact on the Group’s financial 

position or financial performance as the Company has used the equity method to account for its joint venture 

and associate since prior years.

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

FRS 112 prescribes comprehensive disclosure requirements for all types of interests in other entities. It requires 

an entity to disclose information that helps users to assess the nature and financial effects of relationships with 

subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities. As the new standard affects 

only disclosure, there is no effect on the Group’s financial position or performance. Certain new disclosures are 

included in these financial statements following the adoption of FRS 112 on 1 January 2014.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

Amendments to FRS 36 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets

The amendments to FRS 36 were issued to remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of any 
cash-generating unit for which the carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
is significant compared to the total carrying amount of goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life, and instead require disclosure about recoverable amount only when there is a significant impairment or 
reversal of an impairment, as well as to require additional disclosures when recoverable amount is based on 
fair value less costs of disposal.

The Group has adopted the amendments to FRS 36 from 1 January 2014, and there is no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or financial performance.

FRS issued but not yet effective

As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and the Company have not adopted 
the following FRS that have been issued but not yet effective:

Effective date 
(annual periods 

beginning 
on or after)

FRS 1 (Amendments) : Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016
FRS 16 and FRS 38
 (Amendments)

: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
 Amortisation

1 January 2016

FRS 16 and FRS 41 
 (Amendments)

: Agriculture: Bearer Plants 1 January 2016

FRS 19 (Amendments) : Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions 1 July 2014
FRS 27 (Amendments) : Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016
FRS 109 : Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
FRS 110 and FRS 28
 (Amendments)

: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
 its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2016

FRS 110, FRS 112 and 
 FRS 28 (Amendments)

: Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 1 January 2016

FRS 111 (Amendments) : Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 1 January 2016
FRS 114 : Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016
FRS 115 : Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017
Improvements to FRSs (January 2014) 1 July 2014
Improvements to FRSs (February 2014) 1 July 2014
Improvements to FRSs (November 2014) 1 January 2016

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new or revised standards.

The Group and the Company expect that the adoption of the above FRS in future periods, if applicable, will 
have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of initial 
adoption, except as discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

FRS issued but not yet effective (Continued)

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 supersedes FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement with new requirements for 

the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge 

accounting.

Under FRS 109, financial assets are classified into financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost 

depending on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the financial assets. Fair value gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss except for 

certain equity investments, for which the Group will have a choice to recognise the gains and losses in other 

comprehensive income. A third measurement category has been added for debt instruments – fair value through 

other comprehensive income. This measurement category applies to debt instruments that meet the Solely 

Payments of Principal and Interest contractual cash flow characteristics test and where the Group is holding 

the debt instrument to both collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets.

FRS 109 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities 

from FRS 39, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss, where 

the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of that liability is recognised in other 

comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In addition, FRS 109 

retains the requirements in FRS 39 for de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

FRS 109 introduces a new forward-looking impairment model based on expected credit losses to replace the 

incurred loss model in FRS 39. This determines the recognition of impairment provisions as well as interest 

revenue. For financial assets at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group will 

now always recognise (at a minimum) 12 months of expected losses in profit or loss. Lifetime expected losses 

will be recognised on these assets when there is a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition.

FRS 109 also introduces a new hedge accounting model designed to allow entities to better reflect their risk 

management activities in their financial statements.

The Group plans to adopt FRS 109 in the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018 with retrospective effect 

in accordance with the transitional provisions. There may be a potentially significant impact on the accounting 

for financial instruments on initial adoption. Due to the recent release of this standard, the Group has not yet 

made a detailed assessment of the impact of this standard, however the Group will be required to reassess 

the classification and measurement of financial assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements (Continued)

FRS issued but not yet effective (Continued)

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 introduces a comprehensive model that applies to revenue from contracts with customers and 

supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements under FRS. The model features a five-step analysis to 

determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised, and two approaches for recognising revenue: at 

a point in time or over time. The core principle is that an entity recognises revenue when control over promised 

goods or services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. FRS 115 also introduces extensive qualitative 

and quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial statements to understand 

the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

On initial adoption of this standard there may be a potentially significant impact on the timing and profile of 

revenue recognition of the Group. Due to the recent release of this standard, the Group has not yet made a 

detailed assessment of the impact of this standard. The Group plans to adopt the standard in the financial year 

beginning on 1 January 2017 with either full or modified retrospective effect in accordance with the transitional 

provisions, and will include the required additional disclosures in its financial statements for that financial year.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an investee if the Group has 

power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its power to 

affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may 

be a change in any of these elements of control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group up to the effective date 

on which control is lost, as appropriate.

Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses may be an impairment indicator of the asset 

concerned.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Company, 

using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries are changed to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by other members of the Group.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries relate to the equity in subsidiaries which is not attributable directly 

or indirectly to the owners of the parent. They are shown separately in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income, financial position and changes in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are a present ownership interest and entitle its holders to a 

proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair 

value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value, of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to 

acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 

plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is 

attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 

reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which 

the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 

directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any 

non-controlling interest. The profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of 

the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying 

amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted 

for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would 

be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investments retained in 

the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, 

the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the separate financial statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint venture 

are carried at cost, less any impairment loss that has been recognised in profit or loss.

2.3 Business combinations

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 

for the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, 

liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 

acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Consideration also includes the 

fair value of any contingent consideration. Contingent consideration classified as a financial liability is remeasured 

subsequently to fair value through profit or loss.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition 

under FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (Continued)

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity 

are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting 

gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 

acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 

or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset at the acquisition date and initially measured at the 

excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 

and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net acquisition-date 

fair value amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the 

acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations before 1 January 2010

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly known 

as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to those fair 

values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in equity.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree 

are not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination results in a change in the terms of the 

contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic 

outflow was probable and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent measurements to the contingent 

consideration affected goodwill.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services rendered in the ordinary course of business. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is presented, 

net of rebates, discounts and sales related taxes.

Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the services have been performed and accepted by 

the customers in accordance to the relevant terms and conditions of the contracts. The Group accounts for 

these services under the percentage-of-completion method based on the services rendered as at the end of 

the financial year compared to total costs expected under the contract. Revenue is recognised by reference to 

the stage of completion of the contract provided the amount of revenue, stage of completion and associated 

costs can be measured reliably and it is probable that the consideration will be received. At the time a loss on 

a contract is anticipated, the entire amount of the estimated loss is accrued. Contract revenue is recognised 

in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy in construction contracts.

Contracts that do not qualify for use of the percentage-of-completion method as reasonable estimates of 

percentage of completion are not available, are accounted for by deferring all billings and related costs, net of 

anticipated losses, until completion of the contract.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership of the goods and retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold, the amount of revenue can be 

measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity 

and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rental income

Rental income under operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in the national schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operates.

Singapore

The Group and the Company makes contribution to the Central Provident Fund Scheme in Singapore, a defined 

contribution pension scheme.

People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)

A subsidiary, incorporated and operating in the PRC, are required to provide certain retirement plan contribution 

to their employees under existing PRC regulations. Contributions are provided at rates stipulated by the PRC 

regulations and are managed by government agencies, which are responsible for administering these amounts 

for the subsidiary’s employees.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are charged as an expense in profit or 

loss in the financial year as the employment that gives rise to the contributions.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for 

the estimated undiscounted liability for annual leave expected to be settled wholly within twelve months from 

the end of the financial year as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the financial year.

Share-based payments

Share options

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based 

payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date 

of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity settled share-based payments is expensed 

on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually 

vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions. At the end of each financial year, the 

Group revises the estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of 

the original estimates, if any, is recognised over the remaining vesting period with a corresponding adjustment 

to the share option reserve.

Fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 

and behavioural considerations.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Performance shares

The performance share plan of the Group is accounted as equity-settled share-based payments. Equity-settled 
share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The performance share expense is 
amortised and recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. At the end of each 
financial year, the Group revises the estimate of the number of performance shares that are expected to vest. 
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised over the remaining vesting period with 
a corresponding adjustment to equity.

2.6 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the financial year in which they are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are recognised on a time-proportion basis in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

2.7 Leases

When the Group and the Company is the lessee of an operating lease

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as 
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

2.8 Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current income tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the financial year. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax 
is recognised at the amount expected to be paid or recovered from the taxation authorities and is calculated 
using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company 
and its subsidiaries operate by the end of the financial year.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.



SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201456

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 

are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 

temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can utilised. Such assets and liabilities 

are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than 

in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 

nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 

to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 

or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the financial year.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 

the group expects to recover or settle its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 

the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, 

in which case the tax is also recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, or where it 

arises from the initial accounting for a business combination. Deferred tax arising from a business combination, 

is taken into account in calculating goodwill on acquisition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Income tax (Continued)

Sales tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 when	the	sales	taxation	that	is	incurred	on	purchase	of	assets	or	services	is	not	recoverable	from	the	

tax authorities, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of cost of acquisition of the asset or 

as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables	and	payables	that	are	stated	with	the	amount	of	sales	tax	included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 

receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.9 Foreign currency transactions and translation

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the 

end of each financial year, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates 

prevailing as of the end of the financial year. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 

in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on retranslating of monetary items 

are included in profit or loss for the financial year. Exchange differences arising on the re-translation of non-

monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the financial year except for differences 

arising on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in 

other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is 

also recognised in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the results and financial positions of the 

Group’s entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the end of financial year;

(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rate for the financial year (unless this average 

is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 

dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the 

transactions); and

(iii) all resulting foreign currency exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

presented in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Foreign currency transactions and translation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 

(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of 

borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign 

currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

2.10 Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim dividends are recorded in the 

financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends on ordinary shares are recorded in the financial 

year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

2.11 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant 

and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to 

bringing the property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included 

as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration 

is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent expenditure relating to the property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is 

added to the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment when it is probable that the future economic 

benefits, in excess of the standard of performance of the property, plant and equipment before the expenditure 

was made, will flow to the Group and the Company, and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent 

expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts of the property, 

plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Years

Leasehold property 30

Computers 3

Furniture and fittings 3

Office equipment 3 to 5

Renovation 3 to 5

Motor vehicles 3 to 4

Site equipment 10
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, 

at the end of each financial year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use and no further 

charges for depreciation is made in respect of these assets.

2.12 Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 

Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary 

recognised at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently 

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 

allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may 

be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, 

the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 

then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Goodwill on associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for 

impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint venture, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 

the determination of the gain or loss on disposal.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Intangible assets (Continued)

Land use rights

Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights are measured at cost 

less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The land use rights are amortised 

over the remaining useful life of the lease term of 50 years.

Computer software

Computer software is initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any discounts and 

rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the software for its intended use. Direct expenditure, 

which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its specifications and which can be 

reliably measured, is added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining computer 

software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Computer software is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line method so as to write off the costs of the computer software 

over their estimated useful lives of three years.

2.13 Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement when there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint control 

over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control is 

assessed under the same principles as control over subsidiaries (Note 2.2). The Group classifies its interests in 

joint arrangements as joint venture where the Group has rights to only the net assets of the joint arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group considers:

– The structure of the joint arrangement;

– The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle;

– The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

– Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e. 

using the equity method) as described in Note 2.14 below.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Associate and joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 

those policies.

Associate and joint venture are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, 

and subsequently accounted for using the equity method less any impairment losses. Any premium paid for an 

associate or a joint venture above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities acquired is included in the carrying amount of the investment in associate or joint venture.

Under the equity method, the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits and losses and other comprehensive 

income is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Post-acquisition changes in 

the Group’s share of net assets of associate or joint venture and distributions received are adjusted against 

the carrying amount of the investments.

Losses of an associate or a joint venture in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture 

(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment) are not 

recognised, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations to make good those losses or made 

payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

Where the Group transacts with an associate or a joint venture, unrealised profits are eliminated to the extent 

of the Group’s interest in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, but only to the 

extent that there is no impairment.

Investment in an associate and a joint venture are stated at cost in the Company’s statement of financial 

position less impairment loss, if any.

2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each financial year, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine 

whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 

any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 

and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss.

2.16 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when the Group 

or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and 

allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 

expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of 

the financial instrument. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments 

other than those financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised on a trade date where the purchase of a financial asset is under a contract 

whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned, 

and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at 

fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature 

and purpose for which these financial assets were acquired and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments, advance payments to suppliers, non-trade receivables 

from associate and other recoverable) and cash and cash equivalents which have fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest 

is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of 

interest would be immaterial.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each financial year. Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 

effective interest rate.

The carrying amounts of all financial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception of 

trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in 

the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 

loss is reversed either directly or by adjusting an allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment 

loss is recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 

amortised cost at the reversal date.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest 

in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 

asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds receivables.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by Group are classified according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (excluding advance payments from customers and amount due to contract customers) 

are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

where applicable, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield 

basis.

Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 

costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in 

accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of the joint venture and these 

guarantees qualify as financial guarantees because the Company is required to reimburse the banks if the joint 

venture breaches any repayment terms.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values plus transaction costs and 

subsequently at the higher of the amount of the obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in 

accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 

recognised, less cumulative amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 

and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of raw materials is determined on a “first-in, first-out” basis and includes all costs of purchase, costs of 

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. In the 

case of manufactured goods, cost includes costs of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of 

manufacturing overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price at which inventories can be realised in the ordinary course of 

business after allowing for the costs of realisation. Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective 

inventories.

2.18 Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference 

to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the financial year (percentage-of-completion 

method), except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, 

claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the customer. The 

Group measures stage of completion based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to date compared 

total contract costs.

Where the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent 

of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the 

period in which they are incurred. When it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed total contract 

revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

At the end of the financial year, the aggregated costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised loss) on 

each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where costs incurred plus the recognised profits (less 

recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as “Amount due from contract customers” 

within “Trade and other receivables”. Where progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits 

(less recognised losses), the balance is presented as “Amount due to contract customers” within “Trade and 

other payables”.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions are included within “Trade and other receivables”. 

Advances received are included within “Trade and other payables”.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and short-term, highly liquid investments that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand, cash at bank and fixed deposits, net of fixed deposits pledged and bank deposits pledged.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 

assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the group of executive directors and 

the chief executive officer who make strategic decision.

2.21 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the Group or the Company; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation; or

(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the Group.

Contingencies are not recognised on the statements of financial position, except for contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair value can be reliably determined.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management made judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that were not readily apparent from 

other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions were based on historical experience and other factors that 

were considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

3.1 Critical judgements made in applying the accounting policies

The management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements involved that have a significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as discussed below.

(i) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associate, joint venture and financial assets

The Group and the Company follow the guidance of FRS 36 and FRS 39 in determining whether an 

investment or a financial asset is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. The Group 

and the Company evaluate, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the recoverable 

amount of an investment or a financial asset is less than its cost and the financial health of and near-

term business outlook for the investment or financial asset, including factors such as industry and sector 

performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at the end of the 

financial year that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line method over their estimated useful 

lives. The management estimates the useful lives of these assets to be within 3 to 30 years. The carrying 

amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2014 

were US$4,908,000 (2013: US$5,411,000) and US$128,000 (2013: US$177,000) respectively. Changes 

in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives 

and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(ii) Allowance for doubtful receivables

The management establishes allowance for doubtful receivables on a case-by-case basis when it 

believes that payment of amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing these allowances, the 

management considers the historical experience and changes to the customers’ financial position. If 

the financial conditions of receivables were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment of their abilities to 

make the required payments, allowances may be required. The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the 

Company’s trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments, advance payments to suppliers, non-

trade receivables from associate and other recoverable) as at 31 December 2014 were US$10,689,000 

(2013: US$8,232,000) and US$17,554,000 (2013: US$14,421,000) respectively.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii) Allowance for obsolete inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The management determines cost 

of inventories using the “first-in, first-out” basis. The management estimates the net realisable value 

of inventories based on assessment of receipt or committed sales prices and provides for excess 

and obsolete inventories based on historical usage, estimated future demand and related pricing. In 

determining excess quantities, the management considers recent sales activities and related margin of 

its products. However, factors beyond its control, such as demand levels and pricing competition, could 

change from period to period. Such factors may require the Group to reduce the value of its inventories. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s inventories as at 31 December 2014 were 

US$30,000 (2013: US$967,000) and US$Nil (2013: US$251,000) respectively.

(iv) Income taxes

The Group and the Company recognise liabilities for expected income tax liabilities based on estimates 

of income tax payable. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters differs from the amounts that 

were initially recognised, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred tax provisions 

in the financial years in which such determination is made. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 

and the Company’s current income tax payable as at 31 December 2014 were US$431,000 (2013: 

US$211,000) and US$33,000 (2013: US$190,000) respectively. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 

and the Company’s deferred tax liabilities as at 31 December 2014 were US$4,000 (2013: US$23,000) 

and US$4,000 (2013: US$4,000) respectively.

4. REVENUE

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Sale of goods 5,483 6,654

Services rendered 2,287 4,325

Contract revenue 6,379 30,813

14,149 41,792
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5. OTHER INCOME

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Rental income – 26

Miscellaneous income 27 38

27 64

6. FINANCE COSTS

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Bank loan interest 70 142

7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

The above is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Cost of sales

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 116

Administrative and other expenses

Audit fees

– auditors of the Company 109 81

– other auditors 8 4

Non-audit fees

– auditors of the Company – –

– other auditors – –

Allowance for obsolete inventories 100 –

Amortisation of intangible assets 73 81

Professional fees 210 36

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 398 300

Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net 575 (18)

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 45 36

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 69 –

Loss on plant and equipment written off – 9

Operating lease expenses 94 173

Transportation and travelling 381 410
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7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The profit before income tax also includes the following:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Employee benefits

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 2,406 2,732

Contribution to defined contribution plans 124 123

Share-based payment expense 557 570

Other employee benefits 60 51

3,147 3,476

Employee benefits are recognised in the following line items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Cost of sales 225 497

Administrative and other expenses 2,922 2,979

3,147 3,476

Employee benefits include key management personnel remuneration as shown in Note 28 to the financial statements.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Current income tax

– current year 411 207

– under provision in prior years 12 6

423 213

Deferred tax

– current year – (10)

– over provision in prior years (19) –

(19) (10)

Total income tax expense 404 203

Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2013: 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the financial year. Taxation 

for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the Singapore statutory 

income tax rate of 17% (2013: 17%) to profit before income tax as a result of the following differences:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Profit before income tax 1,014 1,180

Income tax calculated at statutory income tax rate 172 201

Effect of different tax rate in other countries (65) (61)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible 247 129

Tax effect of income not subject to tax (132) (149)

Statutory stepped income tax exemption (20) (45)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 197 222

Under provision of current income tax in prior years 12 6

Over provision of deferred tax in prior years (19) –

Tax incentive and rebate (10) (91)

Others 22 (9)

404 203

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are attributable to the following items:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Plant and equipment – 1

Unutilised tax losses 740 542

740 543

At the end of the financial year, the Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately US$2,960,000 (2013: 

US$2,168,000) which are available for offset against future taxable income subject to the agreement by the relevant tax 

authority and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the country in which the subsidiary operate. 

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of such losses as the management is not confident that there 

will be sufficient future taxable profits to realise these future benefits. Accordingly, these deferred tax assets have 

not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with its accounting policy.

The total unutilised tax losses of the subsidiary in the jurisdiction of the People’s Republic of China can only be utilised 

for set-off against its future taxable profits within five years from the date the tax losses were incurred.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The expiry dates for these unutilised tax losses are as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Year

2014 – 123

2015 558 561

2016 521 524

2017 224 225

2018 730 735

2019 927 –

2,960 2,168

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent is calculated as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 610 987

Number of 

shares

Number of 

shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

 for basic earnings per share (’000) 193,951 148,064

Basic earnings per share (cents) 0.31 0.67
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9. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Diluted earnings per share

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company and the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 

shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options and performance shares. 

The weighted average number of shares on issues has been adjusted as if all dilutive share options and performance 

shares were exercised. No adjustment is made to the net profit.

Diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent is calculated as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 610 987

Number of 

shares

Number of 

shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

 for basic earnings per share (’000) 193,951 148,064

Adjustments for (’000)

– Share options 10,000 13,000

– Performance shares – 10,000

203,951 171,064

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 0.30 0.58
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Company Computers

Furniture 

and fittings

Office 

equipment Renovation Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2014 82 17 19 184 302

Additions 8 3 2 20 33

Balance at 31 December 2014 90 20 21 204 335

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2014 49 13 12 51 125

Depreciation for the financial year 21 2 4 55 82

Balance at 31 December 2014 70 15 16 106 207

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2014 20 5 5 98 128

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 62 14 14 56 146

Additions 20 3 5 167 195

Disposals/Write-off – – – (39) (39)

Balance at 31 December 2013 82 17 19 184 302

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2013 29 9 8 48 94

Depreciation for the financial year 20 4 4 34 62

Disposals/Write-off – – – (31) (31)

Balance at 31 December 2013 49 13 12 51 125

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2013 33 4 7 133 177

For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group’s additions to property, plant and equipment 

were as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Additions during the financial year 83 209

Provision for reinstatement costs (8) –

Cash payments to purchase plant and equipment 75 209
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Land use 

rights

Computer 

software Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2014 1,233 263 1,496

Additions – 1 1

Disposals – (152) (152)

Currency realignment (30) – (30)

Balance at 31 December 2014 1,203 112 1,315

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2014 93 77 170

Amortisation for the financial year 27 46 73

Disposals – (83) (83)

Currency realignment (2) – (2)

Balance at 31 December 2014 118 40 158

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2014 1,085 72 1,157

Average remaining useful lives 43 years 2 years

Group

Land use 

rights

Computer 

software Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 1,198 149 1,347

Additions – 114 114

Currency realignment 35 – 35

Balance at 31 December 2013 1,233 263 1,496

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2013 64 23 87

Amortisation for the financial year 27 54 81

Currency realignment 2 – 2

Balance at 31 December 2013 93 77 170

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2013 1,140 186 1,326

Average remaining useful lives 44 years 2 years
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortisation expense was included in “Administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.

Company

2014 2013

Computer software US$’000 US$’000

Cost

Balance at beginning of financial year 111 –

Additions 1 111

Balance at end of financial year 112 111

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of financial year 3 –

Amortisation for the financial year 37 3

Balance at end of financial year 40 3

Net carrying amount

At end of financial year 72 108

Average remaining useful lives 2 years 3 years

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 6,001 6,000

Allowance for impairment losses (1,800) (800)

4,201 5,200

Movement in the allowance for impairment losses are as follows:

Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year 800 –

Allowance made during the year 1,000 800

Balance at end of financial year 1,800 800
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12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2014, the Company carried out a review on the recoverable amount of its investments in 

subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. During the financial year, the Company 

recognised an impairment loss of US$1,000,000 (2013: US$800,000) in the Company’s profit or loss subsequent to 

the assessment performed by the management in respect of a subsidiary due to the continuing losses reported by 

the subsidiary. The recoverable amount of the investment in this subsidiary of approximately US$4,200,000 (2013: 

US$5,200,000) has been determined on the basis of the subsidiary’s fair value less costs to sell which was estimated 

by the management using the following basis:

i) by reference to market evidences of transaction prices for the non-current assets of the subsidiary which 

comprised mainly leasehold property and land use rights;

ii) the fair value of the current assets and liabilities are determined by management to approximate their carrying 

values due to short-term maturity.

The fair value hierarchy is considered as Level 2 as the inputs to determine the fair value less costs to sell of the non-

current assets are based on a valuation report carried out by an independent professional valuation firm using the sales 

comparison approach whereby sale prices of comparable properties in similar locations are adjusted for differences in 

key attributes such as property size. The most significant input into the valuation model is the price per square metre 

of the property. The valuation is based on the assets’ highest and best use, which is in line with their actual use.

Incorporation of a wholly-owned subsidiary

On 18 July 2014, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary in Singapore, Axon Rig Concept & Design 

Asia Pte. Ltd., with a cash consideration of S$700 (or approximately US$560).

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

In the previous financial year, the Company acquired the remaining 2% equity interest in Jiangyin SBI Offshore 

Equipment Co., Ltd. (“JSBI”) for a total consideration of US$120,000. Accordingly, JSBI became a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company. The effects of acquisition are as follows:

2013

US$’000

Consideration paid on changes in ownership interest in a subsidiary 120

Non-controlling interests acquired (85)

Recognised in equity 35

Significant restriction

Cash and bank balances of approximately US$4,459,000, equivalent to RMB27,647,000 (2013: US$170,000, equivalent 

to RMB1,026,000) held with a subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China are subject to local exchange control 

regulations. These regulations place restrictions on exporting capital out of the country other than through dividends 

and thus significantly affect the Group’s ability to access or use assets, and settle liabilities, of the Group.



SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201480

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

12. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

(Country of incorporation and 

principal place of business) Principal activities

Proportion of

ownership 

interest held 

by the Group

Proportion 

of ownership 

interest held by 

non-controlling 

interests

2014 2013 2014 2013

% % % %

Held by the Company

Jiangyin SBI Offshore Equipment 

 Co., Ltd.(1)

 (People’s Republic of China)

Manufacturing of offshore rig 

 equipment

100 100 – –

Neptune Life-Saving Pte. Ltd.(2)

 (Singapore)

Marketing, distribution and 

 servicing of offshore and 

 marine equipment

100 100 – –

Sea Reef do Brazil Ltda(3)

 (Brazil)

Dormant 60 60 40 40

SBI O&M Pte. Ltd.(2)

 (Singapore)

Marketing, distribution, designing, 

 engineering, procurement, 

 fabrication, construction and 

 commissioning of offshore and 

 marine equipment

100 100 – –

Axon Rig Concept & Design Asia 

 Pte. Ltd.(3)

 (Singapore)

Dormant 100 – – –

Held by Neptune Life-Saving Pte. Ltd.

Sea Reef International Inc.(4)

 (United States of America)

Marketing and distribution of 

 offshore equipment

100 100 – –

Notes:

(1) Audited by Jiangsu Welsen Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China.

(2) Audited by BDO LLP, Singapore.

(3) Not required to be audited under the laws of country of incorporation.

(4) In the process of striking off.
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13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Equity shares, at cost 1,800 1,800

The details of the associate is as follows:

Name of associate

(Country of incorporation and 

principal place of business) Principal activities

Effective equity interest 

held by the Group

2014 2013

% %

Jiangyin Neptune Marine Appliance Co., Ltd.(1)

 (People’s Republic of China)

Manufacturing of marine equipment, 

 fittings and boats

35 35

Note:

(1) Audited by Jiangyin Jiyang Certified Public Accountant Co., Ltd., People’s Republic of China.

Jiangyin Neptune Marine Appliance Co., Ltd.’s primary business is in alignment with the Group’s design and 

manufacture of offshore marine equipment.

Summarised financial information in relation to the associate is presented below:

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Current assets 10,692 11,095

Non-current assets 4,793 2,372

Current liabilities (8,719) (6,948)

Non-current liabilities – (359)

Net assets 6,766 6,160

Revenue 18,476 13,306

Net profit after income tax, representing total comprehensive income 606 534

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associate (and not the Group’s 

share of those amounts), adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the associate.
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13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented, to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 

the associate, is as follows:

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Net assets

At 1 January 6,160 5,626

Net profit after income tax, representing total comprehensive income 606 534

At 31 December 6,766 6,160

Investment in an associate (35%) 2,368 2,156

Goodwill 565 565

Carrying value of the Group’s investment in an associate 2,933 2,721

Goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) identified. The carrying amount of CGU identified has 

been allocated to the “marketing and distribution” segment. The Group tests its CGU for impairment annually, or more 

frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. The recoverable amount of the CGU, including 

goodwill, has been determined based on value-in-use calculations approved by management derived from cash flow 

projections covering a period of 5 years. The cash flow projections were discounted at a rate of 6.3%, using a growth 

rate of 7.4% and gross margins of 21%.

Management estimates the discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value 

of money and risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates and gross margins are based on historical performance.

Management believes no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would cause the carrying amount 

of the CGU and related goodwill to exceed their recoverable amount.

14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Equity shares, at cost 50 50
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

The details of the joint venture are as follows:

Name of joint venture

(Country of incorporation and 

principal place of business) Principal activities

Effective equity

interest held

by the Group

2014 2013

% %

RBV Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.(1)

 (Singapore)

Manufacture and supply of equipment 

 for marine/offshore industry

50 50

Note:

(1) Audited by CA Practice PAC, Chartered Accountants, Singapore.

RBV Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.’s primary business is in alignment with the Group’s manufacture and supply of 

offshore rig and marine equipment.

Summarised financial information in relation to the joint venture is presented below:

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Current assets 4,983 5,358

Non-current assets 65 79

Current liabilities (2,000) (3,271)

Non-current liabilities – (12)

Net assets 3,048 2,154

Included in the above amounts are:

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,007 1,240

 Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (585) (924)

 Non-current financial liabilities (excluding provisions) – (12)

Revenue 12,615 11,544

Net profit after income tax, representing total comprehensive income 894 1,021

Included in the above amounts are:

 Depreciation 30 19

 Interest expense 129 135

 Income tax expense 178 134

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the joint venture (and not the 

Group’s share of those amounts), adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint 

venture.
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14. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented, to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in  

the joint venture, is as follows:

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Net assets

At 1 January 2,154 1,133

Net profit after income tax, representing total comprehensive income 894 1,021

At 31 December 3,048 2,154

Investment in a joint venture (50%) 1,524 1,077

15. INVENTORIES

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Raw materials 17 148 – –

Work-in-progress 13 773 – 251

Finished goods – 46 – –

30 967 – 251

At the end of the financial year, the Company carried out a review of the realisable values of its inventories and the 

review led to the recognition of an allowance for obsolete inventories of approximately US$100,000 (2013: US$Nil).

The Group’s cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the financial year included in “Cost of sales” amounted 

to US$553,000 (2013: US$7,302,000).
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade receivables

– third parties 10,524 4,670 5,349 4,390

– associate 17 17 17 17

– subsidiary – – 975 427

Non-trade receivables

– third parties 66 166 – 4

– subsidiaries – – 11,140 6,210

– associate 59 – – –

– joint venture 2 299 1 296

Other recoverable 9 48 – –

Rental and other deposits 26 30 18 27

Advance payments to suppliers 191 41 189 41

Prepayments 123 69 111 12

Amount due from contract customer (Note 19) 54 3,050 54 3,050

11,071 8,390 17,854 14,474

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 to 60 days (2013: 30 to 60 days) credit terms.

Trade receivables due from an associate and a subsidiary are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 

demand.

The non-trade receivables due from subsidiaries, associate and joint venture comprise advances which are unsecured, 

non-interest bearing and repayable on demand, except for amounts due from subsidiaries of approximately 

US$5,262,000 (2013: US$1,650,000), which bear interest from 1% to 7% (2013: 1%) per annum.

Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United States dollar 10,927 8,063 12,188 13,943

Singapore dollar 116 90 1,245 328

British pound – 180 – 180

Euro – – 20 –

Chinese renminbi 28 57 4,401 –

Others – – – 23

11,071 8,390 17,854 14,474
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17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash and bank balances 17,263 6,847 12,676 6,624

Fixed deposits 737 739 737 739

Cash and cash equivalents as per statements 

 of financial position 18,000 7,586 13,413 7,363

Fixed deposits pledged (737) (739)

Bank deposits pledged – (1,963)

Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated 

 statement of cash flows 17,263 4,884

Fixed deposits with a financial institution mature on varying periods within 12 months (2013: 12 months) from the end 

of the financial year with an average interest rate of 0.9% (2013: 0.6%) per annum.

At the end of the financial year, fixed deposits of US$737,000 (2013: US$739,000) and bank deposits of US$Nil (2013: 

US$1,963,000) were pledged as securities for banking facilities granted to the Group and the Company as set out in 

Note 20 to the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United States dollar 5,051 4,914 4,900 4,852

Singapore dollar 8,524 2,538 8,490 2,483

British pound 22 28 22 28

Chinese renminbi 4,403 106 1 –

18,000 7,586 13,413 7,363
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables

– third parties 3,055 1,898 3,004 1,172

– subsidiaries – – 467 884

– associate 1,359 824 1,047 794

– joint venture – 314 – 314

Non-trade payables

– third parties 164 157 239 223

– subsidiary – – 94 –

Accrued operating expenses 1,299 4,741 1,245 4,669

Accrued commission costs – 99 – 99

Advance payments from customers 311 657 129 558

Amount due to contract customers (Note 19) 1,942 – 261 –

8,130 8,690 6,486 8,713

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled between 30 to 60 days (2013: 30 to 60 days) credit 

term.

Trade payables due to the subsidiaries, associate and joint venture are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable 

on demand.

Non-trade payable due to a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

United States dollar 7,352 7,288 5,814 7,673

Singapore dollar 741 880 671 827

British pound – 185 – 185

Chinese renminbi 36 309 1 –

Others 1 28 – 28

8,130 8,690 6,486 8,713
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19. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Contract costs incurred to-date 34,063 29,581 33,088 29,581

Recognised profit less recognised losses to date 549 (748) (1,795) (748)

Total contract work-in-progress 34,612 28,833 31,293 28,833

Progress billings (36,500) (25,783) (31,500) (25,783)

(1,888) 3,050 (207) 3,050

Comprising:

Amount due from contract customer (Note 16) 54 3,050 54 3,050

Amount due to contract customers (Note 18) (1,942) – (261) –

20. BANK BORROWINGS

Group and Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Bank loan 1 – secured – 24

Bank loan 2 – secured 41 206

Revolving credit – secured 550 1,000

Trust receipts – secured 349 737

940 1,967

Bank loan 1 is repayable within 36 months commencing from February 2011 and bears effective interest rate at 5% 

(2013: 5%) per annum on monthly rest with monthly instalment of approximately US$24,000 (equivalent to S$30,000) 

per month. The loan was fully repaid during the financial year.

Bank loan 2 is repayable within 36 months commencing from April 2012 and bears effective interest rate at 5% (2013: 

5%) per annum on monthly rest with monthly instalment of approximately US$14,000 (equivalent to S$18,000) per month.

Bank loans 1 to 2 have repayment on demand clause which gives the lenders an unconditional right to call the loan 

at any time. As such, bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities.

Revolving credit and trust receipts bear interest rate at 2.35% to 3.11% (2013: 2.31% to 3.00%) per annum and are 

repayable on demand.

Bank loan 1, bank loan 2, revolving credit and trust receipts are secured by fixed deposits of US$737,000 (2013: 

US$739,000) as set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.

The interest rates may be revised by the banks to reflect the movement in market rates.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their fair values.
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20. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In the previous financial year, the bank deposits of US$1,963,000 were pledged as securities for banking facilities 
granted to the Group and the Company as set out in Note 17 to the financial statements. On 30 June 2014, the 
pledged was released upon expiry of banker’s guarantee.

At the end of the financial year, the Group and the Company have banking facilities as follows:

Group and Company
2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Banking facilities granted 18,453 24,520

Banking facilities utilised 1,845 7,270

Bank borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

Group and Company
2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

United States dollar 899 1,737
Singapore dollar 41 230

940 1,967

21. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At beginning of financial year 23 34 4 4
Credit to profit or loss (19) (11) – –

At end of financial year 4 23 4 4

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised by the Group and movements thereon during 
the financial year.

Accelerated tax 
depreciation Others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group
At 1 January 2013 36 (2) 34
Credit to profit or loss (11) – (11)

At 31 December 2013 25 (2) 23
Credit to profit or loss (19) – (19)

At 31 December 2014 6 (2) 4
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22. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
Number of 

ordinary 
shares US$’000

Issued and fully paid
2014
At beginning of financial year 177,680,100 11,559
Issuance of shares under performance share plan, 
 net of share issue expenses 10,000,000 918
Issuance of shares pursuant to placement,
 net of share issue expenses 62,000,000 12,776

At end of financial year 249,680,100 25,253

2013
At beginning of financial year 121,680,100 6,397
Issuance of shares pursuant to placements,
 net of share issue expenses 56,000,000 5,162

At end of financial year 177,680,100 11,559

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed income. The holders of ordinary shares 

are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares have no par value and 

carry one vote per share without restriction.

During the financial year, the Company issued 10,000,000 new shares to Mr Chan Lai Thong, Executive Director and 

Executive Chairman of the Company pursuant to the fulfilment of the vesting conditions of the performance share 

plan. The share issue expenses pertaining to the new shares issued was S$8,000 (or approximately US$7,000). The 

newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing share capital.

During the financial year, the Company allotted and issued 62,000,000 new placement shares at an issue price of 

S$0.2605 (2013: 34,000,000 placement shares at an issue price of S$0.108 and 22,000,000 placement shares at 

an issue price of S$0.125) per share for cash after deducting share issue expenses pertaining to the new placement 

shares of S$18,000 (or approximately US$14,000) (2013: S$10,000 (or approximately US$8,000)). The net proceeds 

will be used for working capital for existing projects and other strategic alliances, market expansion and such business 

development plans when opportunities arise. The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing 

share capital.
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23. OTHER RESERVES

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Share-based payment reserve (a) 202 570 202 570

Equity – Non-Controlling Interest (“NCI”) (b) (35) (35) – –

167 535 202 570

(a) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents equity-settled share options and performance shares granted to 
employees and certain Directors (Note 24). The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received 
from employees and certain Directors for the issue of share options and performance shares.

(b) Equity – NCI

The Equity – NCI is the effect of transaction with non-controlling interests if there is no change in control and 
the transaction will no longer result in goodwill or gain or loss.

The movements of other reserves of the Group and the Company are presented in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

The Company has a share options scheme and a performance share plan for certain employees and Directors of the 

Company.

The SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved and adopted by its members at an 

Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 September 2009.

The SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan (“PSP”) was approved and adopted by its members at an Extraordinary 

General Meeting held on 30 April 2013.

The ESOS and PSP are administered by the Remuneration Committee (the “RC”), comprising Mr Mahtani Bhagwandas, 

Chairman of the RC, Mr Basil Chan and Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah.

In exercising its discretion, the RC must act in accordance with any guidelines that may be provided by the Board of 

Directors (“Board”). The RC shall refer any matter not falling within the scope of its terms or reference to the Board. 

The RC shall have the power, from time to time, to make and vary such regulations for the implementation and 

administration of the ESOS and PSP as it thinks fit.

No participants have received 5% or more of the total number of shares other than disclosed below.
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (CONTINUED)

ESOS

Options are exercisable at price based on the average of the last done prices for the shares of the Company on the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Limited (“SGX-ST”) for the five market days preceding the date of grant. The RC 

may at its discretion fix the exercise price at a discount not exceeding 20% to the above price. If the options remain 

unexercised after the first anniversary of the day granted until the tenth anniversary, the options will expire. Options 

are forfeited if the employees leave the Company before the options vest.

(a) Options granted

Options granted on 8 January 2013

10,000,000 share options were granted to Mr Chan Lai Thong, Executive Director and Executive Chairman of 

the Company, at the exercise price of S$0.10 on 8 January 2013. The options are vested over various vesting 

periods after the first anniversary, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary in respect of 20% respectively of 

the options granted and exercisable until 8 January 2023.

Options granted on 26 December 2013

3,000,000 share options were granted to Mr Giang Sovann, Executive Director of the Company (resigned on 

8 October 2014), at the exercise price of S$0.10 on 26 December 2013. The options are vested over various 

vesting periods after the second anniversary, third, fourth and fifth anniversary in respect of 25% respectively 

of the options granted and exercisable until 26 December 2023.

(b) Unissued shares under options

At the end of the financial year, the number of unissued shares under options was as follows:

Date of grant

At 

beginning 

of the year

Forfeited/

cancelled

Exercised 

during 

the year

At end 

of the year

Exercise 

price

S$ Exercise period

8.1.2013 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000 0.10 8.1.2014 to 8.1.2023

26.12.2013 3,000,000 (3,000,000) – – 0.10 26.12.2015 to 26.12.2023

There were no shares issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued 

shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (CONTINUED)

ESOS (Continued)

(b) Unissued shares under options (Continued)

The fair value of ESOS are estimated using the Black-Scholes Pricing model. The inputs into the model were 

as follows:

Granted on 

8 January 

2013

Granted on 

26 December 

2013

Exercise price (S$) 0.10 0.10

Share price (S$) 0.10 0.129

Expected life of share options (years) 5.5 to 7.5 6 to 7.5

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.04% to 1.43% 2% to 2.38%

Expected volatility (%) 41.74% 38.98%

Dividend yield (%) 1.63% 1.63%

PSP

The PSP is targeted to incentivise participants in key positions who are able to drive the growth of the Company to 

excel in their performance and encourage greater dedication and loyalty to the Company.

(a) Eligible participants

i) Employees

•	 confirmed	full-time	employees	who	have	attained	the	age	of	21	years	on	or	before	the	date	of	

award; or

•	 Executive	Directors	who	are	Controlling	Shareholders	and	Executive	Directors	who	are	Associates	

of Controlling Shareholders; and

ii) Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors who, in the opinion of the RC, have contributed or 

will contribute to the success of the Group.

There shall be no restriction on the eligibility of any participant to participate in any other share option or share incentive 

schemes implemented or to be implemented by the Company or the Group.
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (CONTINUED)

PSP (Continued)

(b) Maximum allowable allotment

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued pursuant to PSP granted on any date, when added to 

the number of new shares issued and/or issuable in respect of all PSP granted and any other share scheme 

which the Company may implement from time to time, including but not limited to the scheme, will not exceed 

15% of the total issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding 

the grant date.

The following additional limits must not be exceeded:

i) The aggregate number of shares available to controlling shareholders and their associates must not 

exceed 25% of the shares available under PSP; and

ii) The number of shares available to each controlling shareholder of his associate must not exceed 10% 

of the shares available under PSP.

The number of shares to be awarded to the participants in accordance with PSP shall be determined by the 

RC at its absolute discretion, such discretion shall be exercised taking into account criteria such as the rank 

and the responsibilities, performance, years of service and potential for future development of the participant.

(c) Duration

PSP shall continue in force at the discretion of the RC, subject to a maximum period of 10 years, commencing 

on the date on which PSP is adopted by the Company in a general meeting, provided always that PSP may 

continue beyond the above stipulated period with the approval of Shareholders by ordinary resolution in a 

general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then be required.

Notwithstanding the expiry or termination of PSP, any awards made to participants prior to such expiry or 

termination will continue to remain valid.

In the previous financial year, 10 million conditional shares were granted under PSP to Mr Chan Lai Thong, Executive 

Director and Executive Chairman of the Company. The vesting conditions and performance period of the conditional 

shares granted are described as below:

i) 3 million of conditional shares granted for an increase in total revenue of the Group in any financial year over the 

total revenue of Group recorded in FY2013 (based on audited financial figures) by 100%. The award of shares 

to Mr Chan Lai Thong will lapse in the event that the vesting condition is not fulfilled by end of FY2016. The 

shares will be awarded within one month after the statutory auditor has signed off on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.

ii) 7 million of conditional shares granted for the meeting of certain additional vesting condition specified by the RC.
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24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE (CONTINUED)

PSP (Continued)

A simulation model involving projection of future outcomes using statistical distributions of key random variables 

including share price and volatility of returns was used to value the conditional share awards. The simulation model 

was based on the following key assumptions:

3 million of 

conditional 

shares

7 million of 

conditional 

shares

Fair value at grant date (S$) 0.116 0.115

Expected life of performance shares (years) Less than 1 1

Expected volatility (%) 51.67% 45.46%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.31% 0.45%

Dividend yield (%) 1.63% 1.63%

From the commencement of the PSP to 31 December 2014, awards comprising an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares 

have been granted. During the financial year, 10,000,000 performance shares granted to Mr Chan Lai Thong were 

vested upon achievement of certain performance targets over the performance period.

Performance shares granted, vested and cancelled during the financial year and outstanding as at the end of the 

financial year are as follows:

Date of grant

At beginning 

of the year

Share awards 

granted

Share awards 

vested

Shares awards 

cancelled

At end 

of the year

Performance shares

Chan Lai Thong

30.4.2013 10,000,000 – (10,000,000) – –

The total amount recognised in the financial statements for share-based payment transactions with employees is 

summarised as follows:

Group and Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Share-based payment expense

 – ESOS 69 132

 – PSP 488 438

557 570
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25. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries whose functional currency are different from that of the Group’s 

presentation currency which is United States dollar and is non-distributable.

26. DIVIDENDS

Group and Company

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Final tax exempt dividend declared and paid of S$0.002 per 

 ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 – 243

Final tax exempt dividend declared and paid of S$0.002 per 

 ordinary share for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 288 –

288 243

During the financial year, the Company declared and paid a final tax exempt dividend of S$0.002 per ordinary share 

of the Company amounting to approximately US$288,000 (or S$361,000 equivalent) in respect of the financial year 

ended 31 December 2013.

The Company did not recommend any dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Group and Company as a lessee

At the end of the financial year, the Group and the Company have commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating 

leases in respect of office premise and other operating facilities as follows:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Future minimum lease payments payable:

Within one year 108 91 73 91

After one year but within five years 49 111 33 111

Total 157 202 106 202

The above operating lease commitments are based on existing rental rates at the end of the financial year and have 

remaining lease term of 18 months. Operating lease of office premise has an option to renew for a further period of 

3 years at rates to be agreed with the landlord. There are no contingent rental payments and restriction imposed in 

relation to the lease.
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28. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) Has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 

and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member 

of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an 

entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also 

related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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28. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

During the financial year, in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entities and 

the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties at rates and terms agreed between the parties:

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

With subsidiaries

Advances to a subsidiary – – – 776

Loans to subsidiaries – – 860 1,056

Interest on loans to subsidiaries – – 136 7

Payment on behalf of subsidiaries – – 105 74

Purchases from a subsidiary – – 417 377

Receipt on behalf by a subsidiary – – 4,455 –

Management fee from subsidiaries – – 1,015 –

Services rendered from a subsidiary – – – 644

With an associate

Purchase deposits paid to an associate 59 – – –

Purchases from an associate 1,826 1,325 1,350 1,325

With a joint venture

Payment on behalf of a joint venture 18 61 17 61

Purchases from a joint venture 576 1,987 576 1,987

Sales to a joint venture 558 – 558 –

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the key management personnel included under employee benefits in Note 7 were as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Directors’ fees 97 58

Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,650 1,554

Post-employment benefits 21 22

1,768 1,634

Comprise amounts paid to:

Directors of the Company 1,507 1,394

Other key management personnel 261 240

1,768 1,634
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – UNSECURED

(a) Financial support

The Company had given undertakings to a subsidiary (2013: 2 subsidiaries) to provide financial support to the 

subsidiary to enable it to operate as going concern and to meet its obligations as and when it fall due for at 

least twelve months from the end of the financial year.

At the end of the financial year, the subsidiary had capital deficiencies totalling approximately US$3,696,000 

(2013: US$3,374,000), including amount due by the subsidiary to the Company totalling US$3,562,000 (2013: 

US$3,496,000).

(b) Corporate guarantees

As at 31 December 2014, the Company had given guarantees amounting to US$2,556,000 (2013: US$Nil) to a 

bank in respect of banking facilities granted to the joint venture. Such guarantees are in the form of a financial 

guarantee as they require the Company to reimburse the bank if the joint venture to which the guarantees were 

extended fail to make principal or interest repayments when due in accordance with the terms of the borrowings.

The Company has not recognised any liability in respect of the guarantees given to the banks for banking 

facilities granted to the joint venture as there has been no utilisation of the banking facilities as at the end of 

the financial year.

In the opinion of the Directors, no loss is anticipated from these contingent liabilities.

30. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-

maker.

Management considers the business from both a geographic and business segment perspective. Geographically, 

management manages and monitors the business in these primary geographic areas: Singapore, China, Southeast 

Asia other than Singapore, Europe, United States and others. All these locations are engaged in providing products 

or services.

The Group has two reportable segments being marketing and distribution and projects segments.

(i) Marketing and distribution; and

(ii) Projects

The marketing and distribution segment which included sales of goods and services rendered provides marketing and 

distribution services of offshore rig equipment for third parties.
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30. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The projects segment is derived from contracts specifically negotiated for the construction of a combination of offshore 

and marine equipment that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that are organised based on their function and targeted 

customer groups. They are managed separately because each business unit requires different skill sets and marketing 

strategies.

Management monitors the operating results of the segments separately for the purposes of making decisions about 

resources to be allocated and of assessing performance. Segment performance is evaluated based on operation profit 

or loss which is similar to the accounting profit or loss.

Income taxes are managed by the management of respective entities within the Group.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same of those described in the summary of significant 

accounting policies. There is no asymmetrical allocation to reportable segments. Management evaluates performance 

on the basis of profit or loss from operation before tax expense not including non-recurring gains and losses and 

foreign exchange gains or losses.

In the previous financial year, the Group used the three business segments as follows:

(i) Marketing and distribution;

(ii) Design, engineering and fabrication; and

(iii) Contract revenue.

During the financial year, the management has combined the contract revenue and design, engineering and fabrication 

segment and renamed as projects segment as the nature of transactions of these segments is similar. Hence, segments 

have been restated to reflect the changes.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfer as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, which 

approximate market prices. These inter-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 

allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the financial year to acquire segment assets that are 

expected to be used for more than one financial year.
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30. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business segments

Marketing 

and 

distribution Projects Elimination Consolidated

2014 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue

Revenues from external customers 7,770 6,379 – 14,149

Inter-segment revenues 1,413 113 (1,526) –

Total revenue 9,183 6,492 (1,526) 14,149

Results

Segment results 114 182 – 296

Other income 128 1 – 129

Finance costs (70) – – (70)

Share of results of an associate 212 – – 212

Share of results of a joint venture 447 – – 447

Profit before income tax 831 183 – 1,014

Income tax expense (404)

Profit for the financial year 610

Non-controlling interests –

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 610

Capital expenditure 63 12 – 75

Allowance for obsolete inventories 100 – – 100

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 122 349 – 471

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment – 45 – 45

Loss on disposal of intangible assets – 69 – 69

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets 24,195 15,419 – 39,614

Other recoverable 9

Total assets 39,623

Segment liabilities 7,361 1,709 – 9,070

Current income tax payable 431

Deferred tax liabilities 4

Total liabilities 9,505
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30. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business segments (Continued)

Marketing 

and 

distribution Projects Elimination Consolidated

2013 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue

Revenues from external customers 10,979 30,813 – 41,792

Inter-segment revenues – 947 (947) –

Total revenue 10,979 31,760 (947) 41,792

Results

Segment results 2,404 (1,856) – 548

Other income 76 1 – 77

Finance costs (92) (50) – (142)

Share of results of an associate 187 – – 187

Share of results of a joint venture 510 – – 510

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 3,085 (1,905) – 1,180

Income tax expense (203)

Profit for the financial year 977

Non-controlling interests 10

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 987

Capital expenditure 307 16 – 323

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 65 432 – 497

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment – 36 – 36

Loss on plant and equipment written off 9 – – 9

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets 16,484 10,946 – 27,430

Other recoverable 48

Total assets 27,478

Segment liabilities 5,515 5,142 – 10,657

Current income tax payable 211

Deferred tax liabilities 23

Total liabilities 10,891
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30. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information (Continued)

Location of non-current assets

Singapore

People’s 

Republic 

of China

United 

States of 

America Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2014

Location of non-current assets 1,759 8,763 – 10,522

2013

Location of non-current assets 1,362 9,026 147 10,535

Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment in an associate and 

investment in a joint venture.

Major customers

The revenue from three major customers of the Group for the financial year are as follows:

Group

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Customer A 2,209 4,244

Customer B 2,298 4,087

Customer C 3,320 28,833

7,827 37,164

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s and the Company’s activities expose them to credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign 

exchange risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s and the Company’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise 

adverse effects from the volatility of financial markets on the Group’s and the Company’s financial performance.

The Board of Directors of the Company are responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial 

risk management for the Group. The Group’s and the Company’s management then establishes the detailed policies 

such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement, exposure limits and hedging 

strategies, in accordance with the objectives and underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors.

There has been no change to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which 

they manage and measure the risk.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a loss 

to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining 

sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The 

Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally do not require 

a collateral.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances 

for losses, represents the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

The Group’s and the Company’s major classes of financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and trade and 

other receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with creditworthy financial institutions.

The Group and the Company do not have any significant credit exposure to any single financial institutions. 

However, 82% (2013: 89%) of the Group’s and 97% (2013: 57%) of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents 

are placed with 2 (2013: 2) financial institutions.

The Group and the Company do not have any significant credit exposure to any single counterparty or any 

group of counterparties having similar characteristics except for the top 3 (2013: 3) trade receivables from 

third parties, which accounted for 86% (2013: 82%) and 72% (2013: 82%) of the total trade receivables. The 

Company’s non-trade receivables from subsidiaries accounted for 62% (2013: 43%) of the total trade and 

other receivables.

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired are substantially companies with good collection track 

record with the Group and the Company.

The age analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired is as follows:

Group Company

Gross 

receivables

Gross 

receivables

Gross 

receivables

Gross 

receivables

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Past due 1 to 2 months 6,176 373 1,149 372

Past due 2 to 3 months 2,938 801 2,938 801

Past due over 3 months 777 212 777 651
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

Currency risk arises from transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency 

of the entities within the Group. The Group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including 

Singapore dollar (“SGD”), United States dollar (“USD”), Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), Euro (“EUR”) and 

British Pound (“GBP”) and hence is exposed to foreign currency risks. The Group does not use any 

derivative financial instruments to hedge these exposures.

The Group and the Company monitor its foreign currency exchange risks closely and maintains funds 

in various currencies to minimise currency exposure due to timing differences between sales and 

purchases. Currency translation risk arises when commercial transactions and recognised assets and 

liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

It is not the Group’s and the Company’s policy to take speculative positions in foreign currencies. Where 

appropriate, the Group and the Company will enter into foreign currency forward contracts with their 

principal bankers to mitigate the foreign currency risks (mainly export sales and import purchases). At 

the end of the respective financial year, there are no outstanding forward foreign currency contracts.

In relation to the Group’s investments in foreign operations where net assets are exposed to currency 

translation risks, they are not hedged as currency positions in these foreign currencies are considered 

to be long-term in nature. Differences arising from such translation are recorded under the foreign 

currency translation reserve.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets 

and monetary liabilities at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

USD – 64 – 356

SGD 8,521 2,606 782 1,110

GBP 22 208 – 185

EUR – – – 9

RMB 4,431 – 36 –

Others – – 1 18

Company

SGD 9,623 2,799 712 1,057

GBP 22 208 – 185

EUR 20 23 – 9

RMB 4,401 – – –

Others – – 1 18
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.2 Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to SGD and RMB. The following table details the Group’s and the 

Company’s sensitivity to a 5% (2013: 5%) change in SGD and RMB against the entity’s functional 

currency. This sensitivity analysis assumes an instantaneous 5% (2013: 5%) change in the foreign 

currency exchange rates from the end of the financial year, with all other variables held constant. The 

effect on profit or loss will have a corresponding effect on the equity.

Profit or Loss 

 Increase/(Decrease) 

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

SGD

Strengthens against USD 387 74 446 87

Weakens against USD (387) (74) (446) (87)

RMB

Strengthens against USD 220 – 220 –

Weakens against USD (220) – (220) –

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to 

short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings as shown in Notes 17 and 20 to the financial statements.

The Group’s and the Company’s results are affected by changes in interest rates due to the impact of 

such changes on interest income and expenses from short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings 

which are at floating interest rates. It is the Group’s and the Company’s policy to obtain quotes from 

banks to ensure that the most favourable rates are made available to the Group and the Company.

The Group’s and the Company’s bank borrowings of US$940,000 (2013: US$1,967,000) are at variable 

rates and denominated in Singapore dollar and United States dollar. If there is a 1% (2013: 1%) of the 

interest rates charged on the respective bank borrowings with all other variables including tax rate being 

held constant, the Group’s profit after income tax will be lower or higher by approximately US$224 

(2013: US$509) as a result of higher or lower interest expense on bank borrowings.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group and the Company encounters difficulties in meeting their 

short-term obligations. Liquidity risks are managed by matching the payment and receipt cycle.

The Group and the Company actively manages the operating cash flows so as to finance the Group’s and 

the Company’s operations. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group and the Company 

minimises liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 

facilities from financial institutions and maintains sufficient levels of cash and cash equivalents to meet their 

working capital requirements.

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for their non-derivative 

financial instruments. The table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash flows of financial instruments 

based on the earlier of the contractual date or when the Group and the Company are expected to receive or 

pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows:

Contractual maturity analysis

Financial assets Financial liabilities

Non-interest 

bearing

Interest 

bearing

Non-interest 

bearing

Interest 

bearing

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Group

2014

Within one year 27,952 739 5,877 945

2013

Within one year 13,115 2,707 8,033 1,980

Company

2014

Within one year 25,432 5,692 6,096 945

2013

Within one year 17,415 4,374 8,155 1,980

The Group’s and the Company’s operations are financed mainly through equity, accumulated profits, and 

bank borrowings. Adequate lines of credits are maintained to ensure the necessary liquidity is available when 

required. Certain bank loans have repayment on demand clause which gives the lenders an unconditional right 

to call the loan at any time. As such, these bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities. The interest 

rates have been disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.4 Capital management policies and objectives

The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure that the Group and the Company are able to 

continue as going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholders’ value.

The management constantly reviews the capital structure to ensure the Group and the Company are able to 

service any debt obligations (include principal repayment and interests) based on their operating cash flows. 

The Group’s and the Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2013.

The management monitors capital based on gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 

equity attributable to owners of the parent plus net debt. The Group and the Company include within net debt, 

trade and other payables, and bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Equity attributable to owners of 

the parent consists of share capital, other reserves, foreign currency translation reserve and accumulated profits.

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade and other payables 8,130 8,690 6,486 8,713

Bank borrowings 940 1,967 940 1,967

Cash and cash equivalents (18,000) (7,586) (13,413) (7,363)

Net debt (8,930) 3,071 (5,987) 3,317

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 30,118 16,587 30,055 18,549

Total capital 21,188 19,658 24,068 21,866

Gearing ratio n.m 15.6% n.m 15.2%

As at 31 December 2014, the gearing ratio is not meaningful (“n.m”) as cash and cash equivalents is more than 

the Group’s and the Company’s trade and other payables and borrowings.

The Group and the Company are in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial 

years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

31.5 Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables 

and bank borrowings approximate their respective fair values due to the relative short term maturity of these 

financial instruments.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market 

observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are 

categorised into different levels based on how observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised 

are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

– Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items (unadjusted)

– Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1 inputs

– Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a 

significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised 

in the period they occur.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs, which approximate 

their fair value, are detailed in the following table.

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables, excluding 

 prepayments, advance payments to 

 suppliers, non-trade receivables from 

 associate and other recoverable 10,689 8,232 17,554 14,421

Cash and cash equivalents 18,000 7,586 13,413 7,363

Total loans and receivables 28,689 15,818 30,967 21,784

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables, excluding advance 

 payments from customers and amount due 

 to contract customers 5,877 8,033 6,096 8,155

Borrowings 940 1,967 940 1,967

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 6,817 10,000 7,036 10,122
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Total number of issued shares – 249,680,100

excluding treasury shares

Number of treasury shares – Nil

Class of Shares – Ordinary shares

Voting Rights – One Vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings

No. of 

Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 99 0 0.00 0 0.00

100 – 1,000 5 1.40 4,100 0.00

1,001 – 10,000 88 24.58 663,000 0.27

10,001 – 1,000,000 239 66.76 22,798,100 9.13

1,000,001 and above 26 7.26 226,214,900 90.60

Total 358 100.00 249,680,100 100.00

LIST OF 20 LARGEST REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

(as shown in the Register of Members)

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 TAN WOO THIAN 45,900,000 18.38

2 CE VENTURES OFFSHORE LTD 27,000,000 10.81

3 MILLENNIUM MARINE PTE LTD 27,000,000 10.81

4 HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PRIVATE LIMITED 14,176,000 5.68

5 CHAN LAI THONG 14,010,000 5.61

6 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 11,678,000 4.68

7 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 11,041,900 4.42

8 MAYBANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD 9,205,000 3.69

9 KGI FRASER SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,300,000 3.32

10 SBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 7,000,000 2.80

11 BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES 5,460,000 2.19

12 GOH FUQIANG KENNETH 5,250,000 2.10

13 ZHANG YU 5,150,000 2.06

14 HUI CHOON HO 4,765,000 1.91

15 PANG SHUN PEN 4,000,000 1.60

16 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PRIVATE LIMITED 4,000,000 1.60

17 ANPARASAN S/O KAMACHI 3,555,000 1.42

18 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 2,899,500 1.16

19 SOH BUN KUANG 2,574,000 1.03

20 RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED 2,550,000 1.02

Total: 215,514,400 86.29
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 16 MARCH 2015

(as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

1. Tan Woo Thian 45,900,000 18.38 – –

2. Millennium Marine Pte Ltd 27,000,000 10.81 – –

3. CE Ventures Offshore Ltd 27,000,000 10.81 – –

4. Hui Choon Ho 14,765,000 5.91 15,444,000(1) 6.19

5. Chan Lai Thong 14,010,000 5.61 6,000,000(2) 2.40

6. Pheim Asset Management Sdn Bhd 19,000,000 7.61 – –

(1) 15,444,000 ordinary shares are held in the name of Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd. and Maybank Nominees 
(S) Pte Ltd

(2) 6,000,000 ordinary shares are held in the name of Maybank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 723 OF THE RULES OF CATALIST

As at 16 March 2015, based on the registers of shareholders and to the best knowledge of the Company, the percentage of 

shareholding held in the hands of the public is 32.17%. The Company is therefore in compliance with Rule 723 of the Listing 

Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of SBI Offshore Limited (the “Company”) will be held 

at Raffles Marina, Bridge Room 1, 2 and 3, 10 Tuas West Drive Singapore 638404 on Friday, 24 April 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 

for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 

2014 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 93 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

Mr Tan Woo Thian  [See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 2)

Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah  [See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 3)

Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the 

Nominating Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The Board considers Mr 

Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of Section B: Rules of Catalist of the 

Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) (“Rules of Catalist”).

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 99 of the Articles of Association of the Company:

Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir  [See Explanatory Note (iii)] (Resolution 4)

Mr Basil Chan  [See Explanatory Note (iv)] (Resolution 5)

Mr Basil Chan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee, 

a member of the Nominating Committee, Remuneration Committee and Board Risk Committee. The Board considers 

Mr Basil Chan to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Rules of Catalist.

4. To approve the payment of the Directors’ fees of S$95,750 for the financial year ended 31 December  

2014. (Resolution 6)

5. To re-appoint Messrs BDO LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their  

remuneration. (Resolution 7)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an annual general meeting.
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As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

7. Authority to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (the “Share Issue Mandate”)

“That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) and Rule 806 of 

the Rules of Catalist, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:–

(a) (i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or 

otherwise; and/or

 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 

Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 

warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 

may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force), issue Shares in 

pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made 

or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the Company’s total 

number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), 

of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders 

of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 

Resolution) does not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the Company’s total number of issued Shares (excluding 

treasury shares) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below).
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(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST), for the purpose of determining 

the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of the 

total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) is based on the Company’s total number of issued 

Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities outstanding or subsisting 

at the time this Resolution is passed;

(ii) new Shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the share options or share awards (as 

the case may be), were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Rules of Catalist; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Directors shall comply with the requirements imposed 

by the SGX-ST from time to time and the provisions of the Rules of Catalist for the time being in force (unless 

such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Act, and the 

Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), the authority conferred by this Resolution shall 

continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which 

the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier. 

[See Explanatory Note(v)] (Resolution 8)

8. Authority to grant options and issue shares under the SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme

“That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised 

and empowered to issue Shares to all the holders of options granted by the Company, whether granted during the 

subsistence of this authority or otherwise, under the SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) 

upon the exercise of such options and in accordance with the Scheme, provided always that the aggregate number 

of new Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Scheme, (including all ordinary shares issued or issuable in 

respect of all options or awards granted under the Scheme the SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan and any other 

scheme or plan for the time being of the Company), shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total number of 

issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time to time and that such authority shall, 

unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, shall continue in full force until the conclusion of the 

next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company 

is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.” [See Explanatory Note (vi)] (Resolution 9)
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9. Authority to allot and issue shares under the SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan

“THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised 

to grant awards in accordance with the provisions of the SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan (the “Plan”) and to 

allot and issue such number of fully paid Shares from time to time as may be required to be issued pursuant to the 

vesting of awards under the Plan provided always that the aggregate number of new shares to be allotted and issued 

pursuant to the Plan (including all ordinary shares issued or issuable in respect of all options or awards granted under 

the Plan, the Scheme and any other scheme or plan for the time being of the Company) shall not exceed fifteen per 

cent (15%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company from time 

to time and that such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, shall continue in 

full force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual 

general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.” 

[See Explanatory Note (vii)] (Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Chan Lai Yin

Company Secretary

Singapore, 9 April 2015

Explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr Tan Woo Thian will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Executive Director and Chief 

Executive Officer of the Company. The detailed information of Mr Tan Woo Thian can be found under the section 

entitled ‘Board of Directors’ and page 08 of the Annual Report. There are no relationships (including immediate family 

relationships) between Mr Tan Woo Thian and the other Directors and the Company or its 10% shareholders.

(ii) Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Independent Director of 

the Company. The detailed information of Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah can be found under the section entitled ‘Board 

of Directors’ and page 09 of the Annual Report. There are no relationships (including immediate family relationships) 

between Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah and the other Directors and the Company or its 10% shareholders.

(iii) Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Non-Independent Non-

Executive Director of the Company. The detailed information of Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir can be found under the section 

entitled ‘Board of Directors’ and page 08 of the Annual Report. Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir, through his shareholding 

interest in CE Ventures Offshore Ltd, has 10.8% interest in the share capital of the Company. Save as aforesaid, there 

are no relationships (including immediate family relationships) between Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir and the other Directors 

and the Company or its 10% shareholders.
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(iv) Mr Basil Chan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Lead Independent Director of the 

Company. The detailed information of Mr Basil Chan can be found under the section entitled ‘Board of Directors’ and 

page 09 of the Annual Report. There are no relationships (including immediate family relationships) between Mr Basil 

Chan and the other Directors and the Company or its 10% shareholders.

(v) The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the 

date of the AGM until the date of the next annual general meeting, to allot and issue Shares and/or Instruments in the 

Company. The aggregate number of Shares (including any Shares issued pursuant to Instruments made or granted) 

which the Directors may allot and issue under this Resolution, shall not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the 

Company’s total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time of passing this Ordinary Resolution 

8, of which the total number of Shares and/or Instruments to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing 

shareholders of the Company, shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of Company’s total number of issued Shares 

(excluding treasury shares). This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the 

next annual general meeting of the Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company is 

required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. However, notwithstanding the cessation of this authority, the Directors 

are empowered to issue Shares pursuant to any Instruments made or granted under this authority.

(vi) Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date 

of the AGM until the date of the next annual general meeting to grant options and to allot and issue Shares pursuant to 

the exercise of such options under the Scheme (including all ordinary shares issued or issuable in respect of all options 

or awards granted under the Scheme, the Plan and any other scheme or plan for the time being of the Company) 

of up to a number not exceeding fifteen per cent (15%) of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 

Company from time to time.

(vii) Ordinary Resolution 10 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to grant 

awards and to allot and issue such number of fully paid shares from time to time as may be required to be issued 

pursuant to the Plan (including all ordinary shares issued or issuable in respect of all options or awards granted 

under the Plan, the Scheme and any other scheme or plan for the time being of the Company) of up to a number not 

exceeding fifteen per cent (15%) of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company from time to 

time.

Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote 
instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each 
proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.

2. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or 
attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 20 Pioneer Crescent, 
#09-01 West Park BizCentral, Singapore 628555 not less than forty-eight hours (48) before the time for holding the 
AGM.
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SBI OFFSHORE LIMITED
(Company Registration No. 199407121D)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT: FOR CPF INVESTOR ONLY
1. This Annual Report 2014 is forwarded to you at the request of your CPF 

Approved Nominee and is sent SOLELY FOR YOUR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective 

for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit 

their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame 
specified. If they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions 
to the CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them 
to vote on their behalf.

I/We  (Name)

 (NRIC/Passport No./Company Registration No.)

of  (Address)
being a member/members of SBI Offshore Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
Number

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) as my/our proxy/proxies to vote 
for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary to demand a poll, at the Meeting to be held at Raffles Marina, Bridge Rooms No. 
1, 2 and 3, 10 Tuas West Drive, Singapore 638404 on Friday, 24 April 2015, at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/
We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. 
If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they 
will on any matter arising at the Meeting.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [✓] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1. Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2014

2. Re-election of Mr Tan Woo Thian as a Director of the Company

3. Re-election of Mr Ahmad Subri Bin Abdullah as a Director of the Company

4. Re-election of Mr Mirzan Bin Mahathir as a Director of the Company

5. Re-election of Mr Basil Chan as a Director of the Company

6. Approval for the payment of Directors' fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2014

7. Re-appointment of Messrs BDO LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration

8. Authority to allot and issue new shares

9. Authority to allot and issue shares under the SBI Offshore Employee Share Option Scheme

10. Authority to allot and issue shares under the SBI Offshore Performance Share Plan

Dated this  day of  2015.

Total No. of Shares No. of Shares

In CDP Register

In Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s)

or, Common Seal of Corporate Member



NOTES

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his 
stead.

2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his 
holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares. If 
the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of 
shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register 
of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to 
relate to all shares held by the member.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company's registered office at 20 Pioneer Crescent, 
#09-01 West Park BizCentral, Singapore 628555, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Meeting.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common 
seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

7. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney or a duly 
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which 
the instrument may be treated as invalid.

GENERAL:

The Company shall be entitled to reject a proxy form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the proxy form. In addition, in the case of 
shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a proxy form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to 
have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as 
certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as 
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore.
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Designed and produced by

(65) 6578 6522

This annual report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the 
Company’s sponsor, PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (the “Sponsor”), for compliance 
with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) Listing 
Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist. 

The Sponsor has not verified the contents of this annual report. This annual report has not been 
examined or approved by the SGX-ST. The Sponsor and the SGX-ST assume no responsibility for 
the contents of this annual report including the accuracy, completeness or correctness of any of the 
information, statements or opinions made or reports contained in this annual report. 

The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Lance Tan, Director, Continuing Sponsorship, at 16 
Collyer Quay, #10-00 Income at Raffles, Singapore 049318, telephone (65) 6229 8088.
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